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Intangible assets are typically amortized over their respective estimated useful lives on either an accelerated or straight-line basis. 
The following table summarizes the actual amortization expense recorded for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
and the estimated future amortization expense for intangible assets as of December 31, 2017:

Table 7.3: Amortization Expense

(Dollars in millions)
Amortization

Expense
Actual for the year ended December 31,

2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$ 430

2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .386

2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .245
Estimated future amounts for the year ended December 31,

2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .176
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .108
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .57
2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .27
2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .19
Thereafter. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .29
Total estimated future amounts. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$ 416
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NOTE 8—PREMISES, EQUIPMENT AND LEASE COMMITMENTS

Premises and Equipment

The following table presents our premises and equipment as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Table 8.1: Components of Premises and Equipment 

 December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016
Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 406 $ 423
Buildings and improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,302 2,958
Furniture and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,901 1,834
Computer software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,753 1,681
In progress . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 902 591
Total premises and equipment, gross . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,264 7,487

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,231) (3,812)
Total premises and equipment, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,033 $ 3,675

Depreciation and amortization expense was $662 million, $710 million and $638 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 
2016 and 2015, respectively.

Lease Commitments

Certain premises and equipment are leased under agreements that expire at various dates through 2071, without taking into 
consideration available renewal options. Many of these leases provide for payment by us, as the lessee, of property taxes, insurance 
premiums, cost of maintenance and other costs. In some cases, rentals are subject to increases in relation to a cost of living index. 
Total rent expense was $307 million, $330 million and $276 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, 
respectively.

Future minimum rental commitments as of December 31, 2017, for all non-cancellable operating leases with initial or remaining 
terms of one year or more are as follows:

Table 8.2: Lease Commitments

(Dollars in millions)

Estimated Future
Minimum Rental

Commitments
2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 332
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 316
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 300
2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 276
2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 251
Thereafter. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,177
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,652

The table above does not include minimum sublease rental income of $175 million expected to be received in future years under 
all non-cancellable leases.
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NOTE 9—DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS

Our deposits, which are our largest source of funding for our assets and operations, consist of non-interest-bearing and interest-
bearing deposits, which include checking accounts, money market deposit accounts, negotiable order of withdrawals, savings 
deposits and time deposits. 

We use a variety of other funding sources including short-term borrowings, senior and subordinated notes, securitized debt 
obligations and other borrowings. In addition, we utilize FHLB advances, which are secured by certain portions of our loan and 
investment securities portfolios. Securitized debt obligations are presented separately on our consolidated balance sheets, as they 
represent obligations of consolidated securitization trusts, while federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under 
agreements to repurchase, senior and subordinated notes and other borrowings, including FHLB advances, are included in other 
debt on our consolidated balance sheets.

The following tables summarize the components of our deposits, short-term borrowings and long-term debt as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016. Our total short-term borrowings consist of federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements 
to repurchase. Our long-term debt consists of borrowings with an original contractual maturity of greater than one year. The carrying 
value presented below for these borrowings include unamortized debt premiums and discounts, net of debt issuance costs and fair 
value hedge accounting adjustments.

Table 9.1: Components of Deposits, Short-Term Borrowings and Long-Term Debt

(Dollars in millions)
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016
Deposits:

Non-interest-bearing deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 26,404 $ 25,502
Interest-bearing deposits(1). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 217,298 211,266

Total deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 243,702 $ 236,768
Short-term borrowings:

Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements to repurchase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 576 $ 992
Total short-term borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 576 $ 992

 December 31, 2017  

(Dollars in millions)
Maturity

Dates
Stated

Interest Rates

Weighted-
Average

Interest Rate
Carrying

Value
December 31,

2016

Long-term debt:
Securitized debt obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2018 - 2025 1.33 - 2.75% 1.89% $ 20,010 $ 18,826
Senior and subordinated notes:

Fixed unsecured senior debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2018 - 2027 1.50 - 4.75 2.72 22,776 17,546
Floating unsecured senior debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2018 - 2023 1.83 - 2.57 2.27 3,446 1,353

Total unsecured senior debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.66 26,222 18,899
Fixed unsecured subordinated debt . . . . . . . . . . . . 2019 - 2026 3.38 - 8.80 4.09 4,533 4,532

Total senior and subordinated notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,755 23,431
Other long-term borrowings:

FHLB advances . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2018 - 2023 1.38 - 5.36 1.45 8,609 17,179
Other borrowings. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2018 - 2035 1.00 - 16.75 7.40 331 32

Total other long-term borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,940 17,211
Total long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 59,705 $ 59,468
Total short-term borrowings and long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 60,281 $ 60,460

__________
(1) Includes $1.3 billion and $894 million of time deposits in denominations in excess of the $250,000 federal insurance limit as of December 31, 2017 and 

2016, respectively.
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The following table presents the carrying value of our interest-bearing time deposits, securitized debt obligations and other debt 
by remaining contractual maturity as of December 31, 2017.

Table 9.2: Maturity Profile of Borrowings

(Dollars in millions) 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Thereafter Total

Interest-bearing time deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 9,025 $ 7,147 $ 5,395 $ 3,851 $ 4,104 $ 158 $ 29,680
Securitized debt obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,666 6,828 5,289 1,698 2,552 977 20,010
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or
sold under agreements to repurchase . . . . . . . . . . 576 — — — — — 576
Senior and subordinated notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,690 5,667 4,360 3,445 2,518 10,075 30,755
Other borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 230 66 8,603 3 2 36 8,940
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17,187 $ 19,708 $ 23,647 $ 8,997 $ 9,176 $ 11,246 $ 89,961
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NOTE 10—DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Use of Derivatives

We manage asset and liability positions and market risk exposure in accordance with market risk management policies that are 
approved by our Board of Directors. Our primary market risks stem from the impact on our earnings and economic value of equity 
from changes in interest rates and, to a lesser extent, changes in foreign exchange rates. We employ several techniques to manage 
our interest rate sensitivity, which include changing the duration and re-pricing characteristics of various assets and liabilities by 
using interest rate derivatives. Our current policies also include the use of derivatives to hedge exposures denominated in foreign 
currency which we use to limit our earnings and capital ratio exposures to foreign exchange risk. We execute our derivative contracts 
in both the over-the-counter (“OTC”) and exchange-traded derivative markets. Under the Dodd-Frank Act, we are required to clear 
eligible derivative transactions through Central Counterparty Clearinghouses (“CCPs”) such as the Chicago Mercantile Exchange 
(“CME”) and LCH Limited (“LCH”), which are often referred to as “central clearinghouses.” The majority of our derivatives are 
interest rate swaps. In addition, we may use a variety of other derivative instruments, including caps, floors, options, futures and 
forward contracts, to manage our interest rate and foreign exchange risks. We offer various interest rate, foreign exchange rate and 
commodity derivatives as an accommodation to our customers within our Commercial Banking business, and usually offset our 
exposure through derivative transactions with other counterparties.

Derivatives Counterparty Credit Risk

Derivative instruments contain an element of credit risk that arises from the potential failure of a counterparty to perform according 
to the terms of the contract. Our exposure to derivative counterparty credit risk, at any point in time, is represented by the fair 
value of derivatives in a gain position, or derivative asset position, assuming no recoveries of underlying collateral.

To mitigate the risk of counterparty default, we enter into legally enforceable master netting agreements and collateral agreements, 
where possible, with certain derivative counterparties. We generally enter into these agreements on a bilateral basis with our 
counterparties. These bilateral agreements typically provide the right to offset exposures and require one counterparty to post 
collateral on derivative instruments in a net liability position to the other counterparty. Certain of these bilateral agreements include 
provisions requiring that our debt maintain a credit rating of investment grade or above by each of the major credit rating agencies. 
In the event of a downgrade of our debt credit rating below investment grade, some of our counterparties would have the right to 
terminate the derivative contract and close out the existing positions.

We also clear certain OTC derivatives with central clearinghouses through futures commission merchants (“FCMs”) as part of the 
regulatory requirement. The use of the CCPs and the FCMs reduces our bilateral counterparty credit exposures while it increases 
our credit exposures to CCPs and FCMs. We are required by CCPs to post initial and variation margin to mitigate the risk of non-
payment through our FCMs. Our FCM agreements governing these derivative transactions generally include provisions that may 
require us to post more collateral or otherwise change terms in our agreements under certain circumstances. Effective January 3, 
2017, the CME amended its rulebook to legally characterize variation margin cash payments for cleared OTC derivatives as a 
settlement of the position rather than collateral. We adopted this variation margin rule change in the second quarter of 2017. As a 
result, the balances for CME-cleared derivatives are reduced to reflect the settlement of these positions. Variation margin payments 
for LCH-cleared derivatives continued to be characterized as collateral as of December 31, 2017.

We record counterparty credit risk valuation adjustments (“CVAs”) on our derivative contracts to properly reflect the credit quality 
of the counterparty. We consider collateral and legally enforceable master netting agreements that mitigate our credit exposure to 
each counterparty in determining the counterparty credit risk valuation adjustment, which may be adjusted in future periods due 
to changes in the fair value of the derivative contracts, collateral and creditworthiness of the counterparty. We also record debit 
valuation adjustments (“DVAs”) to adjust the fair value of our derivative liabilities to reflect the impact of our own credit quality. 
We calculate this adjustment by comparing the spreads on our credit default swaps to the discount benchmark curve.

Accounting for Derivatives

Our derivatives are designated as either qualifying accounting hedges or free-standing derivatives. Qualifying accounting hedges 
are designated as fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or net investment hedges. Free-standing derivatives primarily consist of 
customer accommodation derivatives and economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting.
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• Fair Value Hedges: We designate derivatives as fair value hedges when they are used to manage our exposure to changes 
in the fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities, which fluctuate in value as a result of movements in interest rates. 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges are recorded in earnings together with offsetting 
changes in the fair value of the hedged item and any resulting ineffectiveness. Our fair value hedges consist of interest rate 
swaps that are intended to modify our exposure to interest rate risk on various fixed-rate assets and liabilities.

• Cash Flow Hedges: We designate derivatives as cash flow hedges when they are used to manage our exposure to variability 
in cash flows related to forecasted transactions. Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are 
recorded as a component of AOCI, to the extent that the hedge relationships are effective, and amounts are reclassified from 
AOCI to earnings as the forecasted transactions impact earnings. To the extent that any ineffectiveness exists in the hedge 
relationships, the amounts are recorded in earnings. Our cash flow hedges use interest rate swaps and floors that are intended 
to hedge the variability in interest receipts or interest payments on various variable-rate assets or liabilities. We also enter 
into foreign currency forward derivative contracts to hedge our exposure to variability in cash flows related to intercompany 
borrowings denominated in a foreign currency.

• Net Investment Hedges: We use net investment hedges to manage the foreign currency exposure related to our net investments 
in foreign operations that have functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Changes in the fair value of net investment 
hedges are recorded in the translation adjustment component of AOCI, offsetting the translation gain or loss from those 
foreign operations. We execute net investment hedges using foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the translation 
exposure of the net investment in our foreign operations.

• Free-Standing Derivatives: We use free-standing derivatives to hedge the risk of changes in the fair value of residential 
MSRs, mortgage loan origination and purchase commitments and other interests held. We also categorize our customer 
accommodation derivatives and the related offsetting contracts as free-standing derivatives. Changes in the fair value of 
free-standing derivatives are recorded in earnings as a component of other non-interest income.

Balance Sheet Presentation

The following table summarizes the notional and fair values of our derivative instruments as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
which are segregated by derivatives that are designated as accounting hedges and those that are not, and are further segregated by 
type of contract within those two categories. The total derivative assets and liabilities are presented on an aggregate basis to take 
into consideration the effects of legally enforceable master netting agreements and any associated cash collateral received or 
pledged.
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Table 10.1: Derivative Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value

 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
 Notional or

Contractual
Amount

Derivative(1)(4) Notional or
Contractual

Amount

Derivative(1)

(Dollars in millions) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Derivatives designated as accounting hedges:
Interest rate contracts:

Fair value hedges. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 56,604 $ 102 $ 164 $ 40,480 $ 295 $ 569
Cash flow hedges. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 77,300 30 125 50,400 151 287

Total interest rate contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 133,904 132 289 90,880 446 856
Foreign exchange contracts:

Cash flow hedges. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,086 19 75 5,620 108 9
Net investment hedges. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,036 1 164 2,396 163 0

Total foreign exchange contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,122 20 239 8,016 271 9
Total derivatives designated as accounting hedges. . . . . . . 143,026 152 528 98,896 717 865
Derivatives not designated as accounting hedges:
Interest rate contracts covering:

MSRs(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,033 7 1 1,696 17 21
Customer accommodation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48,520 848 727 39,474 670 530
Other interest rate exposures(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,824 33 7 1,105 33 8

Total interest rate contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52,377 888 735 42,275 720 559
Other contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,209 0 5 1,767 57 14
Total derivatives not designated as accounting hedges . . . 53,586 888 740 44,042 777 573
Total derivatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 196,612 $ 1,040 $ 1,268 $ 142,938 $ 1,494 $ 1,438
Less: netting adjustment(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (275) (662) (539) (336)
Total derivative assets/liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 765 $ 606 $ 955 $ 1,102

__________
(1) Derivative assets and liabilities presented above exclude valuation adjustments related to non-performance risk. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the 

cumulative CVA balances were $2 million and $6 million, respectively, and the cumulative DVA balances were less than $1 million as of both December 31, 
2017 and 2016. 

(2) MSR contracts include interest rate swaps and to-be-announced contracts. Other interest rate exposures include mortgage-related derivatives.
(3) Represents balance sheet netting of derivative assets and liabilities, and related payables and receivables for cash collateral held or placed with the same 

counterparty. See Table 10.2 for additional information.
(4) Reflects an increase of derivative assets of $38 million and a reduction of derivative liabilities of $724 million on our consolidated balance sheets as of 

December 31, 2017 as a result of adoption of the CME variation margin rule change in the second quarter of 2017.

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

Derivative contracts and repurchase agreements that we execute bilaterally in the OTC market are governed by enforceable master 
netting arrangements where we generally have the right to offset exposure with the same counterparty. Either counterparty can 
generally request to net settle all contracts through a single payment upon default on, or termination of, any one contract. We elect 
to offset the derivative assets and liabilities under netting arrangements for balance sheet presentation where a right of setoff exists. 
For derivative contracts entered into under master netting arrangements for which we have not been able to confirm the enforceability 
of the setoff rights, or those not subject to master netting arrangements, we do not offset our derivative positions for balance sheet 
presentation.

We also maintain collateral agreements with certain derivative counterparties. For bilateral derivatives, we review our collateral 
positions on a daily basis and exchange collateral with our counterparties in accordance with standard International Swaps and 
Derivatives Association documentation and other related agreements. Agreements with certain bilateral counterparties require both 
parties to maintain collateral in the event the fair values of derivative instruments exceed established exposure thresholds. For 
centrally cleared derivatives, we are subject to initial margin and daily variation margin posting with the central clearinghouses. 
Acceptable types of collateral are typically in the form of cash or high quality liquid securities. 
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The exchange of collateral is dependent upon the fair value of the derivative instruments as well as the fair value of the pledged 
collateral. When valuing collateral, an estimate of the variation in price and liquidity over time is subtracted in the form of a 
“haircut” to discount the value of the collateral pledged. 

The following table presents as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 the gross and net fair values of our derivative assets and liabilities 
and repurchase agreements, as well as the related offsetting amounts permitted under U.S. GAAP. The table also includes cash 
and non-cash collateral received or pledged associated with such arrangements. The collateral amounts shown are limited to the 
extent of the related net derivative fair values or outstanding balances, thus instances of over-collateralization are not shown.

Table 10.2: Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

 
Gross

Amounts

Gross Amounts Offset in the
Balance Sheet

Net Amounts
as Recognized

Securities
Collateral Held
Under Master

Netting
Agreements

  

(Dollars in millions)
Financial

Instruments
Cash Collateral

Received  
Net

Exposure

As of December 31, 2017
Derivative assets(1)(2). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,040 $ (202) $ (73) $ 765 $ 0 $ 765

As of December 31, 2016
Derivative assets(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,494 (152) (387) 955 (11) 944

Gross
Amounts

Gross Amounts Offset in the
Balance Sheet

Net Amounts
as Recognized

Securities
Collateral Pledged

Under Master
Netting

Agreements

  

(Dollars in millions)
Financial

Instruments
Cash Collateral

Pledged  
Net

Exposure
As of December 31, 2017

Derivative liabilities(1)(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,268 $ (202) $ (460) $ 606 $ 0 $ 606
Repurchase agreements(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . 576 0 0 576 (576) 0

As of December 31, 2016
Derivative liabilities(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,438 (152) (184) 1,102 0 1,102
Repurchase agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . 992 0 0 992 (992) 0

__________
(1) Reflects an increase of derivative assets of $38 million and a reduction of derivative liabilities of $724 million on our consolidated balance sheets as of 

December 31, 2017 as a result of adoption of the CME variation margin rule change in the second quarter of 2017.
(2) We received cash collateral from derivative counterparties totaling $91 million and $448 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. We also 

received securities from derivative counterparties with a fair value of $1 million and $16 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which we 
have the ability to re-pledge. We posted $966 million and $1.5 billion of cash collateral as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

(3) Represents customer repurchase agreements that mature the next business day. As of December 31, 2017, we pledged collateral with a fair value of $588 
million under these customer repurchase agreements, which were primarily agency RMBS securities.

Income Statement Presentation and AOCI

Fair Value Hedges and Free-Standing Derivatives

The following table presents gains or losses related to derivatives designated as fair value hedges and free-standing derivatives 
for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. These gains or losses are included as a component of other non-interest 
income in our consolidated statements of income. Accrued interest income or expense on fair value hedges is recorded in net 
interest income or expense in our consolidated statements of income and is excluded from this table.
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Table 10.3: Gains and Losses on Fair Value Hedges and Free-Standing Derivatives

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 2015

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges:
Fair value interest rate contracts:

Gains (losses) recognized in earnings on derivatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (212) $ (613) $ (66)
Gains (losses) recognized in earnings on hedged items . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 216 603 75

Net fair value hedge ineffectiveness gains (losses) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 (10) 9
Derivatives not designated as accounting hedges:
Interest rate contracts covering:

MSRs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 (1) 3
Customer accommodation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38 37 21
Other interest rate exposures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58 68 44

Total interest rate contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 99 104 68
Other contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 (9) (2)
Total gains on derivatives not designated as accounting hedges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 99 95 66
Net derivative gains recognized in earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 103 $ 85 $ 75
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Cash Flow and Net Investment Hedges

The following table shows the net gains (losses) related to derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and net investment hedges
for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Table 10.4: Gains and Losses on Derivatives Designated as Cash Flow Hedges and Net Investment Hedges 

 Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 2015

Gains (losses) recorded in AOCI:
Cash flow hedges:

Interest rate contracts. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (113) $ (6) $ 301
Foreign exchange contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18 3 (17)

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (95) (3) 284
Net investment hedges:

Foreign exchange contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (143) 280 83
Net derivatives gains (losses) recognized in AOCI . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (238) $ 277 $ 367
Gains (losses) recorded in earnings:
Cash flow hedges:
Gains (losses) reclassified from AOCI into earnings:

Interest rate contracts(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 91 $ 192 $ 190
Foreign exchange contracts(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17 3 (16)

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 108 195 174
Gains (losses) recognized in earnings due to ineffectiveness:

Interest rate contracts(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 (4) 2
Net derivative gains (losses) recognized in earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 110 $ 191 $ 176

__________
(1) Amounts reclassified are recorded in our consolidated statements of income in interest income or interest expense.
(2) Amounts are recorded in our consolidated statements of income in other non-interest income or other interest income. 

In the next 12 months, we expect to reclassify to earnings net after-tax losses of $17 million currently recorded in AOCI as of 
December 31, 2017. These amounts will offset the cash flows associated with the hedged forecasted transactions. The maximum 
length of time over which forecasted transactions were hedged was approximately six years as of December 31, 2017. The amount 
we expect to reclassify into earnings may change as a result of changes in market conditions and ongoing actions taken as part of 
our overall risk management strategy.
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NOTE 11—STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred Stock

The following table summarizes the Company’s preferred stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Table 11.1: Preferred Stock Issued and Outstanding(1)

Redeemable
by Issuer
Beginning

Per Annum
Dividend Rate

Dividend
Frequency

Liquidation
Preference
per Share

Carrying Value 
(in millions)

Series Description Issuance Date
Total Shares
Outstanding

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Series B 6.00% 
Non-Cumulative

August 20,
2012

September 1,
2017

6.00% Quarterly $ 1,000 875,000 $ 853 $ 853

Series C 6.25% 
Non-Cumulative

June 12, 2014 September 1,
2019

6.25 Quarterly 1,000 500,000 484 484

Series D 6.70% 
Non-Cumulative

October 31,
2014

December 1,
2019

6.70 Quarterly 1,000 500,000 485 485

Series E Fixed-to-
Floating Rate

Non-Cumulative

May 14, 2015 June 1, 2020 5.55% 
through 

5/31/2020; 
3-mo. 

LIBOR+ 380 
bps 

thereafter

Semi-
Annually
through

5/31/2020;
Quarterly
thereafter

1,000 1,000,000 988 988

Series F 6.20% 
Non-Cumulative

August 24,
2015

December 1,
2020

6.20 Quarterly 1,000 500,000 484 484

Series G 5.20%
Non-Cumulative

July 29, 2016 December 1,
2021

5.20 Quarterly 1,000 600,000 583 583

Series H 6.00% 
Non-Cumulative

November 29,
2016

December 1,
2021

6.00 Quarterly 1,000 500,000 483 483

Total $ 4,360 $ 4,360

__________
(1) Except for Series E, ownership is held in the form of depositary shares, each representing a 1/40th interest in a share of fixed-rate non-cumulative perpetual 

preferred stock.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive income primarily consists of accumulated net unrealized gains or losses associated with available 
for sale securities, the effective portion of the changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, unrealized gains 
and losses on securities held to maturity on the transfer date from the available for sale category and foreign currency translation 
adjustments. Unrealized gains and losses for securities held to maturity are amortized over the remaining life of the security with 
no expected impact on future net income as amortization of these gains or losses will be offset by the amortization of premium or 
discount created from the transfer of securities from available to sale to held to maturity. The amount of foreign currency translation 
adjustments below includes the impact from hedging instruments designated as net investment hedges. 

The following table presents the changes in AOCI by component for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Table 11.2: Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

(Dollars in millions)

Securities
Available
for Sale

Securities
Held to

Maturity

Cash 
Flow

Hedges

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments Other Total

AOCI as of December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 410 $ (821) $ 10 $ (8) $ (21) $ (430)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications . . . . . . . . . . . (268) 0 284 (135) (5) (124)

Amounts reclassified from AOCI into earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 96 (174) 0 (4) (62)

Net other comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (248) 96 110 (135) (9) (186)

AOCI as of December 31, 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 162 (725) 120 (143) (30) (616)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications . . . . . . . . . . . (172) 0 (3) (79) 7 (247)

Amounts reclassified from AOCI into earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 104 (195) 0 (1) (86)

Net other comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (166) 104 (198) (79) 6 (333)

AOCI as of December 31, 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4) (621) (78) (222) (24) (949)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications . . . . . . . . . . . 62 0 (95) 84 30 81

Amounts reclassified from AOCI into earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (41) 97 (108) 0 (6) (58)

Net other comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21 97 (203) 84 24 23

AOCI as of December 31, 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17 $ (524) $ (281) $ (138) $ 0 $ (926)
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The following table presents the impacts on net income of amounts reclassified from each component of AOCI for the years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. 

Table 11.3: Reclassifications from AOCI

Amount Reclassified from AOCI
(Dollars in millions) Year Ended December 31,
AOCI Components Affected Income Statement Line Item 2017 2016 2015

Securities available for sale:
Non-interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65 $ (10) $ (32)
Income tax provision (benefit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 (4) (12)
Net income (loss). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41 (6) (20)

Securities held to maturity:
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (150) (164) (151)
Income tax benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (53) (60) (55)
Net income loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (97) (104) (96)

Cash flow hedges:
Interest rate contracts: Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 145 306 303
Foreign exchange contracts: Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27 6 (5)

Non-interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 (2) (21)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes . . . . . . . 173 310 277
Income tax provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65 115 103
Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 108 195 174

Other:
Non-interest income and non-interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 2 5
Income tax provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 1 1
Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 1 4

Total reclassifications . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 58 $ 86 $ 62

The table below summarizes other comprehensive income activity and the related tax impact for the years ended December 31, 
2017, 2016 and 2015.

Table 11.4: Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017 2016 2015

(Dollars in millions)
Before

Tax
Provision
(Benefit)

After
Tax

Before
Tax

Provision
(Benefit)

After
Tax

Before
Tax

Provision
(Benefit)

After
Tax

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net unrealized gains (losses) on
securities available for sale . . . . . . . . . . $ 23 $ 2 $ 21 $ (254) $ (88) $ (166) $ (393) $ (145) $ (248)
Net changes in securities held to
maturity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 150 53 97 164 60 104 151 55 96
Net unrealized gains (losses) on cash
flow hedges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (325) (122) (203) (315) (117) (198) 175 65 110
Foreign currency translation
adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 (81) 84 86 165 (79) (86) 49 (135)

Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38 14 24 10 4 6 (14) (5) (9)

Other comprehensive income (loss). . . . $ (111) $ (134) $ 23 $ (309) $ 24 $ (333) $ (167) $ 19 $ (186)
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NOTE 12—REGULATORY AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Regulation and Capital Adequacy

Bank holding companies (“BHCs”) and national banks are subject to capital adequacy standards adopted by the Federal Reserve, 
Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (collectively, the “Federal Banking 
Agencies”), including the Basel III Capital Rule. Moreover, the Banks, as insured depository institutions, are subject to prompt 
corrective action (“PCA”) capital regulations, which require the Federal Banking Agencies to take prompt corrective action for 
banks that do not meet PCA capital requirements. We entered parallel run under Advanced Approaches on January 1, 2015, during 
which we calculate capital ratios under both the Basel III Standardized Approach and the Basel III Advanced Approaches, though 
we continue to use the Standardized Approach for purposes of meeting regulatory capital requirements.

Under the Basel III Capital Rule, the regulatory minimum risk-based and leverage capital requirements for Advanced Approaches 
banking organizations include a common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of at least 4.5%, a Tier 1 capital ratio of at least 6.0%, a total 
capital ratio of at least 8.0% and a Tier 1 leverage capital ratio of at least 4.0%. The Basel III Capital Rule introduced a supplementary 
leverage ratio for all Advanced Approaches banking organizations, which compares Tier 1 capital to total leverage exposure, which 
includes all on-balance sheet assets and certain off-balance sheet exposures, including derivatives and unused commitments. Given 
that we are in our Basel III Advanced Approaches parallel run, we calculate the ratio based on Tier 1 capital under the Standardized 
Approach. The supplementary leverage ratio minimum requirement of 3.0% became effective on January 1, 2018. As an Advanced 
Approaches banking organization, however, we were required to calculate and publicly disclose our supplementary leverage ratio 
beginning in the first quarter of 2015.

For additional information about the capital adequacy guidelines we are subject to, see “Part 1—Item 1. Business—Supervision 
and Regulation.”
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The following table provides a comparison of our regulatory capital amounts and ratios under the Basel III Standardized Approach 
subject to the applicable transition provisions, the regulatory minimum capital adequacy ratios and the PCA well-capitalized level 
for each ratio,where applicable, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Table 12.1: Capital Ratios Under Basel III(1)

 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

(Dollars in millions)
Capital
Amount

Capital
Ratio

Minimum
Capital

Adequacy
Well-

Capitalized
Capital
Amount

Capital
Ratio

Minimum
Capital

Adequacy
Well-

Capitalized

Capital One Financial Corp:
Common equity Tier 1 capital(2) . . . . . . $ 30,036 10.3% 4.5% N/A $ 28,803 10.1% 4.5% N/A
Tier 1 capital(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34,396 11.8 6.0 6.0% 33,162 11.6 6.0 6.0%
Total capital(4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41,962 14.4 8.0 10.0 40,817 14.3 8.0 10.0
Tier 1 leverage(5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34,396 9.9 4.0 N/A 33,162 9.9 4.0 N/A
Supplementary leverage(6) . . . . . . . . . . 34,396 8.4 N/A N/A 33,162 8.6 N/A N/A
COBNA:
Common equity Tier 1 capital(2) . . . . . . 14,791 14.3 4.5 6.5 11,568 12.0 4.5 6.5
Tier 1 capital(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,791 14.3 6.0 8.0 11,568 12.0 6.0 8.0
Total capital(4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,521 16.9 8.0 10.0 14,230 14.8 8.0 10.0
Tier 1 leverage(5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,791 12.7 4.0 5.0 11,568 10.8 4.0 5.0
Supplementary leverage(6) . . . . . . . . . . 14,791 10.4 N/A N/A 11,568 8.9 N/A N/A
CONA:
Common equity Tier 1 capital(2) . . . . . . 23,771 12.2 4.5 6.5 20,670 10.6 4.5 6.5
Tier 1 capital(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,771 12.2 6.0 8.0 20,670 10.6 6.0 8.0
Total capital(4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,214 13.4 8.0 10.0 23,117 11.8 8.0 10.0
Tier 1 leverage(5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,771 8.6 4.0 5.0 20,670 7.7 4.0 5.0
Supplementary leverage(6) . . . . . . . . . . 23,771 7.7 N/A N/A 20,670 6.9 N/A N/A

__________
(1) Capital ratios are calculated based on the Basel III Standardized Approach framework, subject to applicable transition provisions, such as the inclusion of 

the unrealized gains and losses on securities available for sale included in AOCI and adjustments related to intangible assets other than goodwill. The inclusion 
of AOCI and the adjustments related to intangible assets are phased-in at 60% for 2016, 80% for 2017 and 100% for 2018. Capital ratios that are not applicable 
are denoted by “N/A.”

(2)  Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio is a regulatory capital measure calculated based on common equity Tier 1 capital divided by risk-weighted assets.
(3)  Tier 1 capital ratio is a regulatory capital measure calculated based on Tier 1 capital divided by risk-weighted assets.
(4)  Total capital ratio is a regulatory capital measure calculated based on total capital divided by risk-weighted assets.
(5)  Tier 1 leverage ratio is a regulatory capital measure calculated based on Tier 1 capital divided by adjusted average assets.
(6) Supplementary leverage ratio is a regulatory capital measure calculated based on Tier 1 capital divided by total leverage exposure.

We exceeded the minimum capital requirements and each of the Banks exceeded the minimum regulatory requirements and were 
well-capitalized under PCA requirements as of both December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Regulatory restrictions exist that limit the ability of the Banks to transfer funds to our BHC. As of December 31, 2017, funds 
available for dividend payments from COBNA and CONA were $4.0 billion and $1.6 billion, respectively. Applicable provisions 
that may be contained in our borrowing agreements or the borrowing agreements of our subsidiaries may limit our subsidiaries’ 
ability to pay dividends to us or our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders.
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NOTE 13—EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share. Dividends and undistributed 
earnings allocated to participating securities represent the undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities using the two-
class method permitted by U.S. GAAP for computing earnings per share.

Table 13.1: Computation of Basic and Diluted Earnings per Common Share

 Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars and shares in millions, except per share data) 2017 2016 2015

Income from continuing operations, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,117 $ 3,770 $ 4,012
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (135) (19) 38
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,982 3,751 4,050
Dividends and undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13) (24) (20)
Preferred stock dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (265) (214) (158)
Net income available to common stockholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,704 $ 3,513 $ 3,872

Total weighted-average basic shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 484.2 504.9 541.8
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.5 2.0 2.6
Other contingently issuable shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.2 1.3 1.3
Warrants(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.7 1.6 2.3

Total effect of dilutive securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.4 4.9 6.2
Total weighted-average diluted shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 488.6 509.8 548.0

Basic earnings per common share:
Net income from continuing operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.80 $ 7.00 $ 7.08
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.28) (0.04) 0.07
Net income per basic common share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.52 $ 6.96 $ 7.15

Diluted earnings per common share:(2)

Net income from continuing operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.76 $ 6.93 $ 7.00
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.27) (0.04) 0.07
Net income per diluted common share. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.49 $ 6.89 $ 7.07

__________
(1) Represents warrants issued as part of the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Troubled Assets Relief Program (“TARP”). There were 1.3 million warrants to 

purchase common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 4.1 million warrants to purchase common stock outstanding as of both December 31, 
2016 and 2015.

(2) Excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share were 233,000 shares related to options with exercise prices ranging from $82.08 to $86.34, 1.7 
million shares related to options with exercise prices ranging from $63.73 to $88.81 and 1.9 million shares related to options with exercise prices ranging 
from $70.96 to $88.81 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
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NOTE 14—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Stock Plans

We have one active stock-based compensation plan available for the issuance of shares to employees, directors and third-party 
service providers (if applicable). As of December 31, 2017, under the Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive plan (“2004 
Plan”), we are authorized to issue 55 million common shares in various forms, including incentive stock options, nonstatutory 
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), share-settled restricted stock units (“RSUs”), 
performance share awards (“PSAs”) and performance share units (“PSUs”). Of this amount, approximately 15 million shares 
remain available for future issuance as of December 31, 2017. The 2004 Plan permits the use of newly issued shares or treasury 
shares upon the settlement of options and stock-based incentive awards, and we generally settle by issuing new shares.

We also issue cash-settled restricted stock units (and in the past issued cash equity units). These cash-settled units are not counted 
against the common shares authorized for issuance or available for issuance under the 2004 Plan.

Total stock-based compensation expense recognized during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $244 million, $239 million and $161 million, 
respectively. The total income tax benefit for stock-based compensation recognized during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $92 million, 
$89 million and $61 million, respectively.

Stock Options

Stock options have a maximum contractual term of ten years. Generally, the exercise price of stock options will equal the fair 
market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Option vesting is determined at the time of grant and may be subject to 
the achievement of any applicable performance conditions. Options generally become exercisable over three years beginning on 
the first anniversary of the date of grant; however, some option grants cliff-vest on or shortly after the first or third anniversary of 
the grant date.

The following table presents a summary of 2017 activity for stock options and the balance of stock options exercisable as of 
December 31, 2017.

Table 14.1: Summary of Stock Options Activity

(Shares in thousands, and intrinsic value in millions)

Shares
Subject to
Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
Outstanding as of January 1, 2017. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,985 $ 48.03
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 345 86.34
Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,431) 51.04
Forfeited. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (133) 75.48
Expired. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 0.00
Outstanding as of December 31, 2017. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,766 $ 48.50 4.1 years $ 243
Exercisable as of December 31, 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,992 $ 43.33 3.3 years $ 225

The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $21.48, $16.36 and $15.11, respectively. 
The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $92 million, $31 million and $23 million, 
respectively. The unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options as of December 31, 2017 was $2 million, which is 
expected to be amortized over a weighted-average period of nine months.



CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

192 Capital One Financial Corporation (COF)

Effective January 1, 2017, we adopted the new accounting guidance related to employee share-based payments. As a result of the 
adoption of this new guidance, all excess tax benefits on share-based payment awards are recognized within income tax expense 
in the consolidated statements of income. The following table presents the cash received from the exercise of stock options under 
all stock-based incentive arrangements, and the actual income tax benefit for the tax deductions from the exercise of the stock 
options.

Table 14.2: Stock Options Cash Flow Impact

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 2015

Cash received for options exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 122 $ 135 $ 64
Tax benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34 12 9

Compensation expense for stock options is based on the grant date fair value, which is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. This option pricing model requires the use of numerous assumptions, many of which are subjective. Certain stock 
options have discretionary vesting conditions and are remeasured at fair value each reporting period.

The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used to value stock options granted during 2017, 2016 and 2015. 
Dividend yield represents the expected dividend rate over the life of the option, and expected option lives are calculated based on 
historical activities.

Table 14.3: Assumptions Used to Value Stock Options Granted

 Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015

Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.85% 2.07% 1.82%
Volatility(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27.00 30.00 24.00
Risk-free interest rate (U.S. Treasury yield curve) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.30 1.64 1.55
Expected option lives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.6 years 6.6 years 6.3 years

__________
(1) The volatility assumption for 2017 and 2016 grants was based on the implied volatility of exchange-traded options and the historical volatility of common 

stock. The volatility assumption for 2015 grants was based on the implied volatility of exchange-traded options and warrants.

Restricted Stock Awards and Units

RSAs and RSUs represent share-settled awards that do not contain performance conditions and are granted to certain employees 
at no cost to the recipient. RSAs and RSUs generally vest over three years from the date of grant; however, some RSAs and RSUs 
cliff vest on or shortly after the first or third anniversary of the grant date. These awards and units are subject to forfeiture until 
certain restrictions have lapsed, including continued employment for a specified period of time. A recipient of an RSA is entitled 
to voting rights and is generally entitled to dividends on the common stock. A recipient of an RSU is entitled to receive a share of 
common stock after the applicable restrictions lapse. Additionally, a recipient of an RSU is generally entitled to receive cash 
payments or additional shares of common stock equivalent to any dividends paid on the underlying common stock during the 
period the RSU is outstanding, but is not entitled to voting rights.

Generally, the value of RSAs and RSUs will equal the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant and the expense is 
recognized over the vesting period.
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The following table presents a summary of 2017 activity for RSAs and RSUs.

Table 14.4: Summary of Restricted Stock Awards and Units

Restricted Stock Awards Restricted Stock Units

(Shares/units in thousands) Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value
per Share Units

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value
per Unit

Unvested as of January 1, 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 67 $ 63.34 3,258 $ 66.72
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 N/A 1,475 86.20
Vested . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (38) 64.21 (1,223) 69.03
Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13) 69.39 (131) 75.22
Unvested as of December 31, 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16 $ 56.39 3,379 $ 74.06

The total fair value of RSAs that vested during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $3 million, $21 million and $28 million, respectively. 
There was no unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSAs as of December 31, 2017.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of RSUs in 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $86.20, $65.19 and $76.15, respectively. The 
total fair value of RSUs that vested during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $110 million, $42 million and $27 million, respectively. The 
unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs as of December 31, 2017 was $116 million, which is expected to 
be amortized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.7 years.

Performance Share Awards and Units

PSAs and PSUs represent share-settled awards that contain performance conditions and are granted to certain employees at no 
cost to the recipient. PSAs and PSUs generally vest over three years from the date of grant; however, some PSUs cliff vest on or 
shortly after the third anniversary of the grant date. Generally, the value of PSAs and PSUs will equal the fair market value of our 
common stock on the date of grant and the expense is recognized over the vesting period. Certain PSAs and PSUs have discretionary 
vesting conditions and are remeasured at fair value each reporting period. A recipient of a PSA is entitled to voting rights and is 
generally entitled to dividends on the common stock. A recipient of a PSU is entitled to receive a share of common stock after the 
applicable restrictions lapse. Additionally, a recipient of a PSU is generally entitled to receive cash payments or additional shares 
of common stock equivalent to any dividends paid on the underlying common stock during the period the PSU is outstanding, but 
is not entitled to voting rights.

The number of PSUs that step vest over three years can be reduced by 50% or 100% depending on whether specific performance 
goals are met during the vesting period. The number of three-year cliff vesting PSUs that will ultimately vest is contingent upon 
meeting specific performance goals over a three-year period. These PSUs also include an opportunity to receive from 0% to 150%
of the target number of common shares. 

The following table presents a summary of 2017 activity for PSAs and PSUs.

Table 14.5: Summary of Performance Share Awards and Units

Performance Share Awards Performance Share Units

(Shares/units in thousands) Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value
per Share Units

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value
per Unit

Unvested as of January 1, 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 $ 70.96 2,077 $ 69.40
Granted(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 0.00 985 82.48
Vested(1). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6) 70.96 (985) 70.05
Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 0.00 (159) 74.34
Unvested as of December 31, 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 $ 0.00 1,918 $ 75.38

__________
(1) Granted and vested include adjustments for achievement of specific performance goals for performance share units granted in prior periods.
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The total fair value of PSAs that vested during 2017 was less than $1 million, and there was no unrecognized compensation expense 
related to unvested PSAs as of December 31, 2017. The total fair value of PSAs that vested during 2016 and 2015 was $11 million
and $30 million, respectively.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of PSUs granted during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $82.48, $62.89 and $65.98, 
respectively. The total fair value of PSUs that vested on the vesting date was $90 million, $54 million and $74 million in 2017, 
2016 and 2015, respectively. The unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested PSUs as of December 31, 2017 was 
$32 million, which is expected to be amortized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1 year.

Cash-Settled Units

Cash-settled units are recorded as liabilities and measured at fair value on a quarterly basis. Cash-settled units are settled with a 
cash payment for each unit vested that is equal to the average fair market value of our common stock for the 15 or 20 trading days 
preceding the vesting date. Cash-settled units generally vest over three years beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant; 
however, some cash-settled units cliff vest shortly before the one year anniversary of the grant date or on or shortly after the third 
anniversary of the grant date. Cash-settled units vesting during 2017, 2016 and 2015 resulted in cash payments to associates of 
$42 million, $36 million and $70 million, respectively. There was no unrecognized compensation cost for unvested cash-settled 
units as of December 31, 2017.

Associate Stock Purchase Plan

We maintain an Associate Stock Purchase Plan (“Purchase Plan”), which is a compensatory plan under the accounting guidance 
for stock-based compensation. We recognized $23 million, $18 million and $16 million in compensation expense for 2017, 2016
and 2015, respectively, under the Purchase Plan.

Under the Purchase Plan, eligible associates are permitted to contribute between 1% and 15% of their base salary through payroll 
deductions and receive a 17.65% Company match on the contributions. Effective January 1, 2018, the Company match on 
contributions is 15%. Both the associates’ contributions and the Company match are applied to the purchase of our unissued 
common or treasury stock at the current market price. Shares may also be acquired on the open market. Dividends for active 
participants are automatically reinvested in additional shares of common stock. Of the 33 million total authorized shares as of 
December 31, 2017, 18 million shares were available for issuance.

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan

We maintain a Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (“DRP”), which allows participating stockholders to purchase 
additional shares of our common stock through automatic reinvestment of dividends or optional cash investments. Of the 8 million
total authorized shares as of December 31, 2017, 7 million shares were available for issuance under the DRP.
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NOTE 15—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Contribution Plan

We sponsor a contributory Associate Savings Plan (the “Plan”) in which all full-time and part-time associates over the age of 18 
are eligible to participate. We make non-elective contributions to each eligible associates’ account and match a portion of associate 
contributions. We also sponsor a voluntary non-qualified deferred compensation plan in which select groups of employees are 
eligible to participate. We make contributions to this plan based on participants’ deferral of salary, bonuses and other eligible pay. 
In addition, we match participants’ excess compensation (compensation over the Internal Revenue Service compensation limit) 
less deferrals. We contributed a total of $282 million, $252 million and $234 million to these plans during the years ended December 
31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

We sponsor a frozen qualified defined benefit pension plan and several non-qualified defined benefit pension plans. We also sponsor 
a plan that provides other postretirement benefits, including medical and life insurance coverage.

Our pension plans and the other postretirement benefit plans are valued using December 31, 2017 and 2016 measurement dates. 
Our policy is to amortize prior service amounts on a straight-line basis over the average remaining years of service to full eligibility 
for benefits of active plan participants.

The following table sets forth, on an aggregated basis, changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets, the funded status and how 
the funded status is recognized on our consolidated balance sheets.

Table 15.1: Changes in Benefit Obligation and Plan Assets

Defined Pension 
Benefits

Other Postretirement
Benefits

(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 2017 2016
Change in benefit obligation:
Accumulated benefit obligation as of January 1, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 180 $ 185 $ 39 $ 45
Service cost. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 2 0 0
Interest cost. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 7 2 2
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18) (14) (3) (3)
Net actuarial loss (gain) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 0 (3) (5)
Accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 178 $ 180 $ 35 $ 39
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets as of January 1, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 226 $ 222 $ 6 $ 5
Actual return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37 17 1 1
Employer contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1 2 3
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18) (14) (3) (3)
Fair value of plan assets as of December 31, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 246 $ 226 $ 6 $ 6
Over (under) funded status as of December 31, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 68 $ 46 $ (29) $ (33)

Defined Pension 
Benefits

Other Postretirement
Benefits

(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 2017 2016
Balance sheet presentation as of December 31,
Other assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 80 $ 57 $ 0 $ 0
Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12) (11) (29) (33)
Net amount recognized as of December 31,. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 68 $ 46 $ (29) $ (33)
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The following table presents the components of net periodic benefit costs and other amounts recognized in other comprehensive 
income.

Table 15.2: Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015

(Dollars in millions)
Defined Pension 

Benefits
Other Postretirement

Benefits
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2 $ 2 $ 1 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 7 8 2 2 2
Expected return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (14) (14) (15) 0 0 0
Amortization of transition obligation, prior service credit and net actuarial loss (gain) 1 1 1 (6) (6) (4)
Net periodic benefit gain . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (4) $ (4) $ (5) $ (4) $ (4) $ (2)

Changes recognized in other comprehensive income, pretax:
Net actuarial gain (loss). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 16 $ 4 $ (5) $ 4 $ 5 $ 7
Reclassification adjustments for amounts recognized in net periodic benefit cost. . . . . 1 1 1 (6) (6) (4)
Total gain (loss) recognized in other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17 $ 5 $ (4) $ (2) $ (1) $ 3

Pre-tax amounts recognized in AOCI that have not yet been recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost consist of the 
following:

Table 15.3: Amounts Recognized in AOCI

December 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016

(Dollars in millions)
Defined Pension

Benefits
Other Postretirement

Benefits
Prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 0 $ (2) $ (2)
Net actuarial gain (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (49) (66) 10 12
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (49) $ (66) $ 8 $ 10

Pre-tax amounts recorded in AOCI as of December 31, 2017 that are expected to be recognized as a component of our net periodic 
benefit cost in 2018 consist of net actuarial loss of $1 million related to our pension plans and net actuarial gain of $5 million
related to other postretirement plan. There is no meaningful prior service cost expected to be recognized in 2018.
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The following table presents weighted-average assumptions used in the accounting for the plans:

Table 15.4: Assumptions Used in the Accounting for the Plans

 December 31,
 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015

 
Defined Pension 

Benefits
Other Postretirement 

Benefits
Assumptions for benefit obligations at measurement date:
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.5% 4.0% 4.2% 3.5% 4.0% 4.2%
Assumptions for periodic benefit cost for the year ended:
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.0 4.2 3.9 4.0 4.2 3.9
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Assumptions for year-end valuations:
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year:

Pre-age 65 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . N/A N/A N/A 6.5 6.7 7.0
Post-age 65 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . N/A N/A N/A 6.5 6.8 7.1

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate). N/A N/A N/A 4.5 4.5 4.5
Year the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . N/A N/A N/A 2037 2037 2037

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets assumption, consideration was given to the current level of expected 
returns on risk-free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other 
asset classes in which the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The expected return for 
each asset class was then weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return on the plan 
assets assumption for the portfolio.

Assumed health care trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the other postretirement benefit plans. The 
following table presents the effect of a one-percent change in the assumed health care cost trend rate on our accumulated 
postretirement benefit obligation. There were insignificant effects on total service and interest cost for the years ended December 
31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Table 15.5: Sensitivity Analysis

 Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016

(Dollars in millions) 1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease
Effect on year-end postretirement benefit obligation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3 $ (3) $ 4 $ (4)
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Plan Assets

The following table presents the plan asset allocations as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. Common collective trusts primarily 
consist of domestic and international equity securities.

Table 15.6: Plan Assets

 December 31,
 2017 2016

Common collective trusts. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60% 62%
Corporate bonds (Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) rating of A or higher) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 6
Corporate bonds (S&P rating of lower than A) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 12
Government securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13 13
Mortgage-backed securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 5
Municipal bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 1
Money market fund . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 1
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100%

Plan assets are invested using a total return investment approach whereby a mix of equity securities and debt securities are used 
to preserve asset values, diversify risk and enhance our ability to achieve our benchmark for long-term investment return. Investment 
strategies and asset allocations are based on careful consideration of plan liabilities, the plan’s funded status and our financial 
condition. Investment performance and asset allocation are measured and monitored on a quarterly basis.

Plan assets are managed in a balanced portfolio comprised of three major components: domestic equity, international equity and 
domestic fixed income investments. The expected role of plan equity investments is to maximize the long-term real growth of 
fund assets, while the role of fixed income investments is to generate current income, provide for more stable periodic returns and 
provide some protection against a prolonged decline in the market value of fund equity investments.

The investment guidelines provide the following asset allocation targets and ranges: domestic equity target of 39% and allowable 
range of 34% to 44%, international equity target of 16% and allowable range of 11% to 21%, fixed income investments target of 
45% and allowable range of 35% to 55%.

Fair Value Measurement

For information on fair value measurements, including descriptions of Level 1, 2 and 3 of the fair value hierarchy and the valuation 
methods we utilize, see “Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” and “Note 17—Fair Value Measurement.” All of 
our plan assets measured at fair value are classified as Level 2 as of both December 31, 2017 and 2016. The common collective 
trusts are measured at net asset value per share, or its equivalent, as a practical expedient and therefore are not classified in the 
fair value hierarchy.
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Table 15.7: Plan Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

 December 31, 2017

(Dollars in millions)

Fair Value
Measurement
Using Level 2

Assets at Fair
Value

Plan assets, at fair value:
Corporate bonds (S&P rating of A or higher). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 16 $ 16
Corporate bonds (S&P rating of lower than A) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35 35
Government securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33 33
Mortgage-backed securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 12
Municipal bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1
Money market fund . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 4
Plan assets in fair value hierarchy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 101 101
Plan assets not classified in fair value hierarchy:
Common collective trusts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 151
Total plan assets, at fair value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 252

 December 31, 2016

(Dollars in millions)

Fair Value
Measurement
Using Level 2

Assets at Fair
Value

Plan assets, at fair value:
Corporate bonds (S&P rating of A or higher). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 15 $ 15
Corporate bonds (S&P rating of lower than A) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 29
Government securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 31
Mortgage-backed securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 11
Municipal bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1
Money market fund . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 2
Plan assets in fair value hierarchy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 89 89
Plan assets not classified in fair value hierarchy:
Common collective trusts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 143
Total plan assets, at fair value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 232

Expected Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

Table 15.8: Expected Future Benefits Payments

(Dollars in millions)
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 12 $ 3
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 3
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 3
2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 2
2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 2
2023-2027. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51 10

In 2018, $1 million in contributions are expected to be made to the pension plans and $2 million in contributions are expected to 
be made to other postretirement benefits plans.
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NOTE 16—INCOME TAXES

We recognize the current and deferred tax consequences of all transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements 
using the provisions of the enacted tax laws. Current income tax expense represents our estimated taxes to be paid or refunded for 
the current period and includes income tax expense related to our uncertain tax positions, as well as tax-related interest and penalties. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and 
liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. 
We record valuation allowances to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. We record 
the effect of remeasuring deferred tax assets and liabilities due to a change in tax rates or laws as a component of income tax 
expense related to continuing operations for the period in which the change is enacted. Income tax benefits are recognized when, 
based on their technical merits, they are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination. The amount recognized is the 
largest amount of benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon settlement.

The amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017 include the estimated impacts of the Tax Act. Those impacts consist 
of:

• $1.6 billion due to the revaluation of our net deferred tax assets reflecting the reduction in the U.S. corporate tax rate from 
35% to 21%;

• $125 million related to the deemed repatriation of our undistributed foreign earnings; and

• $76 million associated with the revaluation of our investments in affordable housing projects.

The impacts of the Tax Act recorded are considered to be reasonable estimates that are provisional in nature and are subject to 
potential adjustment during the measurement period ending no later than December 2018. The initial accounting is incomplete as 
certain information was not yet available or our analysis was not yet completed due to the close proximity of the date the Tax Act 
was signed into law to the filing date of this Report. The additional information needed includes, but is not limited to, tax-related 
information pertaining to certain of our partnership investments, final computations of tax depreciation, final calculations of 
undistributed foreign earnings and the related foreign taxes including the filing of 2017 tax returns in foreign jurisdictions, final 
tax calculations for certain loan and investment adjustments, and information related to certain payment accruals that is not expected 
to be available until later in 2018.

The following table presents significant components of the provision for income taxes attributable to continuing operations:

Table 16.1: Significant Components of the Provision for Income Taxes Attributable to Continuing Operations

 Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 2015
Current income tax provision:

Federal taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,585 $ 2,087 $ 1,991
State taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 223 209 207
International taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 133 104 73

Total current provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,941 $ 2,400 $ 2,271
Deferred income tax provision (benefit):

Federal taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,509 $ (621) $ (368)
State taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (69) (63) (39)
International taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6) (2) 5

Total deferred provision (benefit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,434 (686) (402)
Total income tax provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,375 $ 1,714 $ 1,869

The international income tax provision is related to pre-tax earnings from foreign operations of approximately $410 million, $287 
million and $288 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Total income tax provision does not reflect the tax effects of items that are included in accumulated other comprehensive income, 
which include a tax benefit of $134 million in 2017 and tax provisions of $24 million and $19 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
See “Note 11—Stockholders’ Equity ”for additional information. In addition, total income tax provision does not reflect tax effects 
associated with our employee stock-based compensation plan, which decreased our additional paid-in capital by $33 million in 
2016 and increased our addition paid-in capital by $7 million in 2015. No income tax provision was recorded in additional paid-
in capital in 2017 as a result of our adoption of the new accounting guidance related to employee share-based payments. See “Note 
1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for additional information.

The following table presents the reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to effective income tax rate applicable 
to income from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Table 16.2: Effective Income Tax Rate

 Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Income tax at U.S. federal statutory tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Impacts of the Tax Act. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32.2 N/A N/A
State taxes, net of federal benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.2 1.9 1.9
Low-income housing, new markets and other tax credits. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5.8) (4.9) (4.0)
Tax-exempt interest and other nontaxable income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1.5) (1.4) (1.3)
Other, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.6) 0.7 0.2
Effective income tax rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61.5% 31.3% 31.8%

The following table presents significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. 
The valuation allowance below represents the adjustment of certain state deferred tax assets and net operating loss carryforwards 
to the amount we have determined is more likely than not to be realized.

Table 16.3: Significant Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

(Dollars in millions)
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016
Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for loan and lease losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,768 $ 2,350
Rewards programs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 936 1,348
Security and loan valuations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 424 869
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 244 188
Compensation and employee benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 208 276
Goodwill and intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 201 294
Unearned income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 130 186
Net unrealized losses on derivatives. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 104 35
Representation and warranty reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 234
Other assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 278 270

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,301 6,050
Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (226) (179)

Total deferred tax assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,075 5,871
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(Dollars in millions)
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016
Deferred tax liabilities:

Original issue discount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 703 1,012
Fixed assets and leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 168 221
Loan fees and expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 68 84
Mortgage servicing rights. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57 67
Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 215 177

Total deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,211 1,561
Net deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,864 $ 4,310

Our federal net operating loss carryforwards were $15 million and $19 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
These operating loss carryforwards were attributable to prior acquisitions and will expire from 2018 to 2035. Under IRS rules, 
our ability to utilize these losses against future income is limited. Our net tax values for state operating loss carryforwards were 
$241 million and $182 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and they will expire from 2018 to 2037.

We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of income tax expense. We recognized a $5 
million expense for 2017, a $5 million benefit for 2016 and a $3 million benefit for 2015.

The following table presents the accrued balance of tax, interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits:

Table 16.4: Reconciliation of the Change in Unrecognized Tax Benefits

(Dollars in millions)

Gross
Unrecognized
Tax Benefits

Accrued
Interest and

Penalties

Gross Tax,
Interest and

Penalties
Balance as of January 1, 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 107 $ 36 $ 143
Additions for tax positions related to prior years . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38 8 46
Reductions for tax positions related to prior years due to IRS and other settlements . . . . . (15) (11) (26)
Balance as of December 31, 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 130 33 163
Additions for tax positions related to prior years . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 6 6
Reductions for tax positions related to prior years due to IRS and other settlements . . . . . (45) (15) (60)
Balance as of December 31, 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 85 24 109
Additions for tax positions related to prior years . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 7 12
Reductions for tax positions related to prior years due to IRS and other settlements . . . . . (4) (2) (6)
Balance as of December 31, 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 86 $ 29 $ 115
Portion of balance at December 31, 2017 that, if recognized, would impact the effective
income tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 68 $ 23 $ 91

We are subject to examination by the IRS and other tax authorities in certain countries and states in which we operate. The tax 
years subject to examination vary by jurisdiction. During 2017, the IRS completed its examination of our federal income tax returns 
for the tax years 2014, 2015 and 2016.

The Company entered into the IRS Compliance Assurance Process (“CAP”) for the Company’s 2014 federal income tax return. The 
examinations of the Company’s 2014 and 2015 returns were completed in 2017 with no adjustments proposed by the IRS. The 
IRS also completed its review of the Company’s 2016 return prior to filing the return in 2017 and proposed no adjustments.  The 
Company continued in the CAP examination process for the 2017 tax year during 2017, with a similar expectation that the IRS 
examination will be completed prior to the filing of its 2017 federal income tax return in 2018. The Company has been accepted 
into CAP for 2018. The Company has a refund claim for the taxable years 2012 and 2013 pending at the IRS Office of Appeals 
with respect to the proper timing for the recognition of its credit card rewards costs.
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It is reasonably possible that further adjustments to the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits may be made within 12 months of 
the reporting date as a result of future judicial or regulatory interpretations of existing tax laws. At this time, an estimate of the 
potential change to the amount of unrecognized tax benefits cannot be made.

The Tax Act requires that all unremitted earnings of subsidiaries operating outside the U.S. are deemed to be repatriated as of 
December 31, 2017. As such, a liability of $125 million has been accrued for the deemed repatriation of $1.5 billion of undistributed 
foreign earnings. The amount will be payable on our 2017 and 2018 tax returns. No actual distributions of these earnings have 
been made as of the balance sheet date. In accordance with the guidance for accounting for income taxes in special areas, these 
earnings are considered by management to be invested indefinitely. Upon repatriation of these earnings, there would be no additional 
U.S. income taxes, but certain jurisdictions may have withholding taxes payable on actual distributions.

As of December 31, 2017, U.S. income taxes of $69 million have not been provided for approximately $287 million of previously 
acquired thrift bad debt reserves created for tax purposes as of December 31, 1987. These amounts, acquired as a result of previous 
mergers and acquisitions, are subject to recapture in the unlikely event that CONA, as successor to the merged and acquired entities, 
makes distributions in excess of earnings and profits, redeems its stock or liquidates.



CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

204 Capital One Financial Corporation (COF)

NOTE 17—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value, also referred to as an exit price, is defined as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The fair value accounting guidance provides a 
three-level fair value hierarchy for classifying financial instruments. This hierarchy is based on the markets in which the assets or 
liabilities trade and whether the inputs to the valuation techniques used to measure fair value are observable or unobservable. The 
fair value measurement of a financial asset or liability is assigned a level based on the lowest level of any input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1: Valuation is based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Valuation is based on observable market-based inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or models using inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data of substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3: Valuation is generated from techniques that use significant assumptions not observable in the market. Valuation 
techniques include pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies or similar techniques.

The accounting guidance for fair value measurements requires that we maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the 
use of unobservable inputs in determining fair value. The accounting guidance provides for the irrevocable option to elect, on a 
contract-by-contract basis, to measure certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value at inception of the contract and record 
any subsequent changes in fair value in earnings. We have not made any material fair value option elections as of or for the periods 
disclosed herein.

Fair Value Governance and Control

We have a governance framework and a number of key controls that are intended to ensure that our fair value measurements are 
appropriate and reliable. Our governance framework provides for independent oversight and segregation of duties. Our control 
processes include review and approval of new transaction types, price verification and review of valuation judgments, methods, 
models, process controls and results.

Groups independent of our trading and investing functions participate in the review and validation process. Tasks performed by 
these groups include periodic verification of fair value measurements to determine if assigned fair values are reasonable, including 
comparing prices from vendor pricing services to other available market information.

Our Fair Value Committee (“FVC”), which includes representation from business areas, Risk Management and Finance divisions, 
provides guidance and oversight to ensure an appropriate valuation control environment. The FVC regularly reviews and approves 
our fair valuations to ensure that our valuation practices are consistent with industry standards and adhere to regulatory and 
accounting guidance.

We have a model policy, established by an independent Model Risk Office, which governs the validation of models and related 
supporting documentation to ensure the appropriate use of models for pricing and fair value measurements. The Model Risk Office 
validates all models and provides ongoing monitoring of their performance.

The fair value governance process is set up in a manner that allows the Chairperson of the FVC to escalate valuation disputes that 
cannot be resolved by the FVC to a more senior committee called the Valuations Advisory Committee (“VAC”) for resolution. 
The VAC is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer and includes other members of senior management. The VAC is only required 
to convene to review escalated valuation disputes.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

The following describes the valuation techniques used in estimating the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities recorded 
at fair value on a recurring basis or nonrecurring basis, and for financial instruments not recorded at fair value. We apply the fair 
value provisions to the financial instruments not recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets but required to be 
disclosed in this note. The provisions require us to maximize the use of observable inputs and to measure fair value using a notion 
of exit price were factored into our selection of inputs for our established valuation techniques.
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Investment Securities

Quoted prices in active markets are used to measure the fair value of U.S. Treasury securities. For the majority of securities in 
other investment categories, we utilize multiple vendor pricing services to obtain fair value measurements. A waterfall of pricing 
vendors is determined in order of preference. The determination of the top ranked pricing vendor is made on an annual basis as 
part of an assessment of the performance of pricing services provided by the vendors. A pricing service may be considered as the 
preferred or primary pricing provider depending on how closely aligned its prices are to other vendor prices, and how consistent 
the prices are with other available market information. The price of each security is confirmed by comparing with other vendor 
prices before it is finalized.

RMBS and CMBS securities are generally classified as Level 2 or 3. When significant assumptions are not consistently observable, 
fair values are derived using the best available data. Such data may include quotes provided by dealers, valuation from external 
pricing services, independent pricing models, or other model-based valuation techniques, for example, calculation of the present 
values of future cash flows incorporating assumptions such as benchmark yields, spreads, prepayment speeds, credit ratings and 
losses. Generally, the pricing services utilize observable market data to the extent available. Pricing models may be used, which 
can vary by asset class and may also incorporate available trade, bid and other market information. Across asset classes, information 
such as trader/dealer inputs, credit spreads, forward curves and prepayment speeds are used to help determine appropriate valuations. 
Because many fixed income securities do not trade on a daily basis, the pricing models may apply available information through 
processes such as benchmarking curves, grouping securities based on their characteristics and using matrix pricing to prepare 
valuations. In addition, model processes are used by the pricing services to develop prepayment assumptions.

We validate the pricing obtained from the primary pricing providers through comparison of pricing to additional sources, including 
other pricing services, dealer pricing indications in transaction results and other internal sources. Pricing variances among different 
pricing sources are analyzed. Additionally, on an on-going basis, we request more detailed information from the valuation vendors 
to understand the pricing methodology and assumptions used to value the securities.

Derivative Assets and Liabilities

We use both exchange-traded and OTC derivatives to manage our interest rate and foreign currency risk exposures. When quoted 
market prices are available and used to value our exchange-traded derivatives, we classify them as Level 1. However, predominantly 
all of our derivatives do not have readily available quoted market prices. Therefore, we value most of our derivatives using vendor-
based valuation techniques. We primarily rely on market observable inputs for our models, such as interest rate yield curves, credit 
curves, option volatility and currency rates. These inputs can vary depending on the type of derivatives and nature of the underlying 
rate, price or index upon which the derivative’s value is based. We typically classify derivatives as Level 2 when significant inputs 
can be observed in a liquid market and the model itself does not require significant judgment. When instruments are traded in less 
liquid markets and significant inputs are unobservable, such as interest rate swaps whose remaining terms do not correlate with 
market observable interest rate yield curves, such derivatives are classified as Level 3. The impact of counterparty non-performance 
risk is considered when measuring the fair value of derivative assets. Official internal pricing is compared against additional pricing 
sources such as external valuation agents and other internal sources. Pricing variances among different pricing sources are analyzed 
and validated. These derivatives are included in other assets or other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Mortgage Servicing Rights

We record consumer MSRs at fair value on a recurring basis.We determine the fair value of MSRs using a valuation model that 
calculates the present value of estimated future net servicing income. The model incorporates assumptions that we believe other 
market participants use in estimating future net servicing income, including estimates of prepayment speeds, discount rate or 
option-adjusted spreads, cost to service, contractual servicing fee income, ancillary income and late fees. Fair value measurements 
of MSRs use significant unobservable inputs and, accordingly, are classified as Level 3. In the event we enter into an agreement 
with a third party to sell the MSRs, the valuation is based on the agreed upon sale price which is considered to be the exit price 
and such MSRs are classified as Level 2.
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Retained Interests in Securitizations 

We have retained interests in various mortgage securitizations from previous acquisitions. Our retained interests primarily include 
amounts previously funded under letters of credit to cover losses on certain manufactured housing securitizations, interest-only 
bonds issued by a trust and negative amortization bonds. We record these retained interests at fair value using market indications 
and valuation models to calculate the present value of future cash flows. The models incorporate various assumptions that market 
participants use in estimating future cash flows including constant prepayment rate, discount rate, default rate and loss severity. 
Due to the use of significant unobservable inputs, retained interests in securitizations are classified as Level 3 under the fair value 
hierarchy.

Deferred Compensation Plan Assets

We offer a voluntary non-qualified deferred compensation plan to eligible associates. In addition to participant deferrals, we make 
contributions to the plan. Participants invest these contributions in a variety of publicly traded mutual funds. The plan assets, which 
consist of publicly traded mutual funds, are classified as Level 1. 

Other Assets

Other assets subject to nonrecurring fair value measurements primarily include foreclosed property, other repossessed assets and 
long-lived assets held for sale. Foreclosed property, other repossessed assets and long-lived assets held for sale are carried at the 
lower of the cost or fair value less costs to sell. The fair value is determined based on the appraisal value, listing price of the 
property or collateral provided by independent appraisers, and is adjusted for the estimated costs to sell. Due to the use of significant 
unobservable inputs, these assets are generally classified as Level 3 under the fair value hierarchy. Fair value adjustments for these 
assets are recorded in other non-interest expense in the consolidated statements of income.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits and other short-term investments. Cash 
and due from banks are generally classified as Level 1. Interest bearing deposits and other short-term investments are generally 
classified as Level 2, as their valuations are based on observable market inputs. Their fair value approximates carrying value.

Restricted Cash for Securitization Investors 

Restricted cash for securitization investors are classified as Level 1. 

Net Loans Held For Investment

Loans held for investment that are individually impaired are carried at the lower of cost or fair value of the underlying collateral, 
less the estimated cost to sell. The fair values of credit card loans, auto loans, home loans and commercial loans are estimated 
using a discounted cash flow method, which is a form of the income approach. Discount rates are determined considering rates at 
which similar portfolios of loans would be made under current conditions and considering liquidity spreads applicable to each 
loan portfolio based on the secondary market. The fair value of credit card loans excludes any value related to customer account 
relationships. For loans held for investment that are recorded at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets and measured on a 
nonrecurring basis, the fair value is determined using appraisal values that are obtained from independent appraisers, broker pricing 
opinions or other available market information, adjusted for the estimated cost to sell.

Due to the use of significant unobservable inputs, loans held for investment are classified as Level 3 under the fair value hierarchy. 
Fair value adjustments for individually impaired collateralized loans held for investment are recorded in provision for credit losses 
in the consolidated statements of income. 

Loans Held For Sale

Loans held for sale are carried at the lower of aggregate cost, net of deferred fees and deferred origination costs, or fair value. 
Certain commercial mortgage loans we originated with the intent to sell are sold to GSEs as part of a delegated underwriting and 
servicing (“DUS”) program. For DUS commercial mortgage loans, the fair value is estimated primarily using contractual prices 
and other market observable inputs. For residential mortgage loans classified as held for sale, the fair value is estimated using 
observable market prices for loans with similar characteristics as the primary component, with the secondary component derived 
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from typical securitization activities and market conditions. Such loans are, however, valued using market price indications when 
available. Credit card loans held for sale are valued based on other market observable inputs. These assets are therefore classified 
as Level 2. Fair value adjustments to loans held for sale are recorded in other non-interest income in our consolidated statements 
of income.

Interest Receivable

Interest receivable is classified as Level 2, as its fair value estimate uses only observable market inputs.

Other Investments

Other investments include FHLB and Federal Reserve stock and cost method investments. These investments are classified as 
Level 2 when their fair value estimates use observable market inputs and as Level 3 if any significant unobservable inputs are 
employed in determining the fair value. 

Deposits

Non-interest-bearing deposits are classified as Level 1. Interest-bearing deposits with no stated maturities are classified as Level 
2, as the fair value is equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting date. Interest-bearing deposits with stated maturities 
are also classified as Level 2, as the fair value is estimated utilizing a discounted cash flow analysis using market observable inputs 
such as current interest rates.

Securitized Debt Obligations

We utilize multiple vendor pricing services to obtain fair value measurements for the majority of our securitized debt obligations. The 
pricing services use pricing models that incorporate market observable data to the extent available, such as trade, bid and other 
market information. We use internal pricing models such as discounted cash flow models or similar techniques to estimate the fair 
value of certain securitization trusts where vendor pricing is not available. Securitized debt obligations are generally classified as 
Level 2. 

Senior and Subordinated Notes

We also engage multiple vendor pricing services to estimate the fair value of senior and subordinated notes. The pricing services 
utilize pricing models that incorporate available trade, bid and other market information. The spread assumptions and relevant 
credit information are also incorporated into the pricing models. Senior and subordinated notes are generally classified as Level 
2. 

Federal Funds Purchased and Securities Loaned or Sold under Agreements to Repurchase

The federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements to repurchase are mainly overnight secured lending 
transactions. They are classified as Level 2 since their fair value estimates use observable market inputs.

Other Borrowings

Other borrowings primarily consist of FHLB advances. The fair value of FHLB advances is determined based on discounted 
expected cash flows using discount rates consistent with current market rates for FHLB advances with similar remaining terms. 
They are classified as Level 2. 

Interest Payable

Interest payable is classified as Level 2, as its fair value estimate is based on observable market inputs.

The determination of the leveling of financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy is performed at the end of each reporting 
period. We consider all available information, including observable market data, indications of market liquidity and orderliness, 
and our understanding of the valuation techniques and significant inputs. Based upon the specific facts and circumstances of each 
instrument or instrument category, judgments are made regarding the significance of the observable or unobservable inputs to the 
instruments’ fair value measurement in its entirety. If unobservable inputs are considered significant, the instrument is classified 
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as Level 3. The process for determining fair value using unobservable inputs is generally more subjective and involves a high 
degree of management judgment and assumptions. During 2017, we had minimal movements between Levels 1 and 2.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table displays our assets and liabilities measured on our consolidated balance sheets at fair value on a recurring 
basis as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Table 17.1: Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

 December 31, 2017
 Fair Value Measurements Using Netting 

Adjustments(1)

 
(Dollars in millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Securities available for sale:

U.S. Treasury securities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,171 $ 0 $ 0 $ — $ 5,171
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 27,178 614 — 27,792
CMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 3,161 14 — 3,175
Other ABS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 512 0 — 512
Other securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 320 680 5 — 1,005

Total securities available for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,491 31,531 633 — 37,655
Other assets:

Derivative assets(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1,002 37 (275) 765
Other(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 281 0 264 — 545

Total assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,773 $ 32,533 $ 934 $ (275) $ 38,965
Liabilities:
Other liabilities:

Derivative liabilities(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1 $ 1,243 $ 24 $ (662) $ 606
Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1 $ 1,243 $ 24 $ (662) $ 606

 December 31, 2016
 Fair Value Measurements Using Netting 

Adjustments(1)

 
(Dollars in millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Securities available for sale:

U.S. Treasury securities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,065 $ 0 $ 0 $ — $ 5,065
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 28,731 518 — 29,249
CMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 4,937 51 — 4,988
Other ABS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 714 0 — 714
Other securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 295 417 9 — 721

Total securities available for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,360 34,799 578 — 40,737
Other assets:

Derivative assets(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 1,440 47 (539) 955
Other(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 219 0 281 — 500

Total assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,586 $ 36,239 $ 906 $ (539) $ 42,192
Liabilities:
Other liabilities:

Derivative liabilities(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 12 $ 1,397 $ 29 $ (336) $ 1,102
Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 12 $ 1,397 $ 29 $ (336) $ 1,102
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__________
(1) Represents balance sheet netting of derivative assets and liabilities, and related payable and receivables for cash collateral held or placed with the same 

counterparty. See “Note 10—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” for additional information.
(2) Does not reflect $2 million and $5 million recognized as a net valuation allowance on derivative assets and liabilities for non-performance risk as of 

December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Non-performance risk is included in the derivative assets and liabilities which are part of other assets and liabilities 
on the consolidated balance sheets and offset through non-interest income in the consolidated statements of income. 

(3) Other includes consumer MSRs of $92 million and $80 million, retained interests in securitizations of $172 million and $201 million and deferred compensation 
plan assets of $281 million and $219 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Rollforward

The table below presents a reconciliation for all assets and liabilities measured and recognized at fair value on a recurring basis 
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. When assets and liabilities 
are transferred between levels, we recognize the transfer as of the end of the period. Generally, transfers into Level 3 were primarily 
driven by the usage of unobservable assumptions in the pricing of these financial instruments as evidenced by wider pricing 
variations among pricing vendors and transfers out of Level 3 were primarily driven by the usage of assumptions corroborated by 
market observable information as evidenced by tighter pricing among multiple pricing sources.

Table 17.2: Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Rollforward

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
 Year Ended December 31, 2017
 

Total Gains (Losses)
(Realized/Unrealized)

   Net Unrealized
Gains (Losses)
Included in Net

Income Related to 
Assets and
Liabilities 

Still Held as of
December 31, 2017(1)(Dollars in millions)

Balance,
January 1,

2017

Included
in Net

Income(1)

Included 
in

OCI Purchases Sales Issuances Settlements

Transfers
Into

Level 3

Transfers
Out of
Level 3

Balance,
December 31,

2017

Securities available for sale:
RMBS . . . . . . . . . $ 518 $ 90 $ (24) $ 0 $ (116) $ 0 $ (92) $ 572 $ (334) $ 614 $ 19
CMBS . . . . . . . . . 51 0 0 110 (50) 0 (4) 0 (93) 14 0
Other securities . . 9 0 0 0 0 0 (4) 0 0 5 0

Total securities
available for sale . . . . 578 90 (24) 110 (166) 0 (100) 572 (427) 633 19
Other assets:

Consumer MSRs . 80 (5) 0 0 (3) 27 (7) 0 0 92 (5)
Retained interest
in securitizations . 201 (29) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 172 (29)

Net derivative assets 
(liabilities)(2) . . . . . . . . 18 0 0 0 0 46 (44) 0 (7) 13 0
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Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
 Year Ended December 31, 2016
 

Total Gains (Losses)
(Realized/Unrealized)

  Net Unrealized
Gains (Losses)
Included in Net

Income Related to 
Assets and
Liabilities 

Still Held as of
December 31, 2016(1)(Dollars in millions)

Balance,
January 1,

2016

Included
in Net

Income(1)
)

Included 
in

OCI Purchases Sales Issuances Settlements

Transfers
Into

Level 3

Transfers
Out of
Level 3

Balance,
December 31,

2016

Securities available for sale:
RMBS . . . . . . . . . $ 504 $ 31 $ 9 $ 110 $ 0 $ 0 $ (98) $ 380 $ (418) $ 518 $ 32
CMBS . . . . . . . . . 97 0 0 266 0 0 (14) 64 (362) 51 0
Other ABS . . . . . . 0 0 0 30 0 0 0 0 (30) 0 0
Other securities . . 14 (9) 0 14 0 0 (10) 0 0 9 0

Total securities
available for sale . . . . 615 22 9 420 0 0 (122) 444 (810) 578 32
Other assets:

Consumer MSRs . 68 (5) 0 0 0 23 (6) 0 0 80 (5)
Retained interest
in securitizations . 211 (10) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 201 (10)

Net derivative assets 
(liabilities)(2) . . . . . . . . 30 (5) 0 0 0 36 (33) 0 (10) 18 (5)

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
 Year Ended December 31, 2015
 

Total Gains (Losses)
(Realized/Unrealized)

  Net Unrealized
Gains (Losses)
Included in Net

Income Related to 
Assets and
Liabilities 

Still Held as of
December 31, 2015(1)(Dollars in millions)

Balance,
January 1,

2015

Included
in Net

Income(1)
)

Included 
in

OCI Purchases Sales Issuances Settlements

Transfers
Into

Level 3

Transfers
Out of
Level 3

Balance,
December 31,

2015

Securities available for sale:
Corporate debt
securities
guaranteed by
U.S. government
agencies . . . . . . . . $ 333 $ (1) $ 6 $ 0 $ (226) $ 0 $ (12) $ 0 $ (100) $ 0 $ 0
RMBS . . . . . . . . . 561 35 (3) 0 0 0 (63) 343 (369) 504 36
CMBS . . . . . . . . . 228 0 (1) 138 0 0 (52) 0 (216) 97 0
Other ABS . . . . . . 65 1 (2) 0 (20) 0 0 0 (44) 0 0
Other securities . . 18 0 0 4 0 0 (8) 0 0 14 0

Total securities
available for sale . . . . 1,205 35 0 142 (246) 0 (135) 343 (729) 615 36
Other assets:

Consumer MSRs . 53 (1) 0 0 0 22 (6) 0 0 68 (1)
Retained interest
in securitizations . 221 (10) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 211 (10)

Net derivative assets 
(liabilities)(2) . . . . . . . . 23 5 0 0 0 29 (23) 0 (4) 30 5

__________
(1) Gains (losses) related to Level 3 securities available for sale, consumer MSRs, retained interests in securitizations, and derivative assets and liabilities are 

included as a component of non-interest income in our consolidated statements of income.
(2) Includes derivative assets and liabilities of $37 million and $24 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2017, $47 million and $29 million, respectively, 

as of December 31, 2016, and $57 million and $27 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2015.
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Significant Level 3 Fair Value Asset and Liability Input Sensitivity

Changes in unobservable inputs may have a significant impact on fair value. Certain of these unobservable inputs will, in isolation, 
have a directionally consistent impact on the fair value of the instrument for a given change in that input. Alternatively, the fair 
value of the instrument may move in an opposite direction for a given change in another input. In general, an increase in the 
discount rate, default rates, loss severity and credit spreads, in isolation, would result in a decrease in the fair value measurement. 
In addition, an increase in default rates would generally be accompanied by a decrease in recovery rates, slower prepayment rates 
and an increase in liquidity spreads.

Techniques and Inputs for Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the significant unobservable inputs used to determine the fair values of our Level 3 financial instruments 
on a recurring basis. We utilize multiple vendor pricing services to obtain fair value for our securities. Several of our vendor pricing 
services are only able to provide unobservable input information for a limited number of securities due to software licensing 
restrictions. Other vendor pricing services are able to provide unobservable input information for all securities for which they 
provide a valuation. As a result, the unobservable input information for the securities available for sale presented below represents 
a composite summary of all information we are able to obtain. The unobservable input information for all other Level 3 financial 
instruments is based on the assumptions used in our internal valuation models.
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Table 17.3: Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

(Dollars in millions)

Fair Value at
December 31,

2017

Significant
Valuation

Techniques

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs Range
Weighted
Average

Securities available for sale:
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 614 Discounted cash flows 

(vendor pricing)
Yield
Voluntary prepayment rate
Default rate
Loss severity

2-9%
0-15%
0-8%
0-90%

5%
4%
3%
62%

CMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 Discounted cash flows 
(vendor pricing)

Yield
Voluntary prepayment rate

3%
0%

3%
0%

Other securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 Discounted cash flows Yield 2% 2%
Other assets:

Consumer MSRs . . . . . . . . . . . . . 92 Discounted cash flows Total prepayment rate
Discount rate
Option-adjusted spread rate
Servicing cost ($ per loan)

7-30%
14%
200-1,500 bps
$75-$100

16%
14%
458 bps
$76

Retained interests in 
securitization(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

172 Discounted cash flows Life of receivables (months)
Voluntary prepayment rate
Discount rate
Default rate
Loss severity

6-79
2-12%
3-10%
1-6%
3-115%

N/A

Net derivative assets (liabilities) . . 13 Discounted cash flows Swap rates 2% 2%

Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

(Dollars in millions)

Fair Value at 
December 31, 

2016

Significant
Valuation

Techniques

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs Range
Weighted
Average

Securities available for sale:
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 518 Discounted cash flows

(vendor pricing)
Yield
Voluntary prepayment rate
Default rate
Loss severity

0-15%
0-30%
0-16%
9-87%

5%
4%
4%
57%

CMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51 Discounted cash flows
(vendor pricing)

Yield
Voluntary prepayment rate

2%
0%

2%
0%

Other securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 Discounted cash flows Yield 1-2% 1%

Other assets:
Consumer MSRs . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80 Discounted cash flows Total prepayment rate

Discount rate
Option-adjusted spread rate
Servicing cost ($ per loan)

8-20%
15%
580-1,500 bps
$75-$100

15%
15%
636 bps
$76

Retained interests in 
securitization(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

201 Discounted cash flows Life of receivables (months)
Voluntary prepayment rate
Discount rate
Default rate
Loss severity

6-87
2-11%
4-11%
1-6%
7-102%

N/A

Net derivative assets (liabilities) . . 18 Discounted cash flows Swap rates 2% 2%

__________
(1) Due to the nature of the various mortgage securitization structures in which we have retained interests, it is not meaningful to present a consolidated weighted 

average for the significant unobservable inputs.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

We are required to measure and recognize certain assets at fair value on a nonrecurring basis on the consolidated balance sheets. 
These assets are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances 
(for example, from the application of lower of cost or fair value accounting or when we evaluate for impairment). 
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The following table presents the carrying value of the assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis and still held as of 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, and for which a nonrecurring fair value measurement was recorded during the year then ended:

Table 17.4: Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2017
Estimated

Fair Value Hierarchy
Total(Dollars in millions) Level 2 Level 3

Loans held for investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 182 $ 182
Loans held for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 177 1 178
Other assets(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 35 35
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 177 $ 218 $ 395

December 31, 2016
Estimated

Fair Value Hierarchy
Total(Dollars in millions) Level 2 Level 3

Loans held for investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 587 $ 587
Loans held for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 157 0 157
Other assets(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 83 83
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 157 $ 670 $ 827

__________
(1) Other assets includes foreclosed property and repossessed assets of $17 million and long-lived assets held for sale of $18 million as of December 31, 2017, 

compared to foreclosed property and repossessed assets of $43 million and long-lived assets held for sale of $40 million as of December 31, 2016.

In the above table, loans held for investment primarily include nonperforming loans for which specific reserves or charge-offs 
have been recognized. These loans are classified as Level 3, as they are valued based in part on the estimated fair value of the 
underlying collateral and the non-recoverable rate, which is considered to be a significant unobservable input. Collateral fair value 
sources include the appraisal value obtained from independent appraisers, broker pricing opinions or other available market 
information. The non-recoverable rate ranged from 0% to 77%, with a weighted average of 21%, and from 0% to 73%, with a 
weighted average of 16%, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The fair value of the loans held for sale and the other 
assets classified as Level 3 is determined based on appraisal value or listing price which involves significant judgment; the significant 
unobservable inputs and related quantitative information are not meaningful to disclose as they vary significantly across properties 
and collateral.

The following table presents total nonrecurring fair value measurements for the period, included in earnings, attributable to the 
change in fair value relating to assets that are still held at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Table 17.5: Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements Included in Earnings

Total Gains (Losses)
 Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 2015

Loans held for investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (100) $ (230) $ (80)
Loans held for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3) (2) (1)
Other assets(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12) (19) (45)
Total. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (115) $ (251) $ (126)

__________
(1) Other assets includes losses related to foreclosed property, repossessed assets and long-lived assets held for sale.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair value, including the level within the fair value hierarchy, of our 
financial instruments that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016.

Table 17.6: Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

 December 31, 2017

Carrying
Value

Estimated
Fair 

Value

Estimated Fair Value Hierarchy

(Dollars in millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 14,040 $ 14,040 $ 4,458 $ 9,582 $ 0
Restricted cash for securitization investors. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 312 312 312 0 0
Securities held to maturity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,984 29,437 200 29,217 20
Net loans held for investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 246,971 251,468 0 0 251,468
Loans held for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 971 952 0 949 3
Interest receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,536 1,536 0 1,536 0

Other investments(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,689 1,689 0 1,680 9
Financial liabilities:

Deposits. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 243,702 243,732 26,404 217,328 0
Securitized debt obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,010 20,122 0 20,122 0
Senior and subordinated notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,755 31,392 0 31,392 0
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements to repurchase . . . . 576 576 0 576 0
Other borrowings(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,892 8,892 0 8,892 0
Interest payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 413 413 0 413 0

 December 31, 2016

Carrying
Value

Estimated
Fair 

Value

Estimated Fair Value Hierarchy

(Dollars in millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 9,976 $ 9,976 $ 4,185 $ 5,791 $ 0
Restricted cash for securitization investors. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,517 2,517 2,517 0 0
Securities held to maturity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,712 26,196 199 25,962 35
Net loans held for investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 239,083 242,935 0 0 242,935
Loans held for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,043 1,038 0 1,038 0
Interest receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,351 1,351 0 1,351 0

Other investments(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,029 2,029 0 2,020 9
Financial liabilities:

Deposits. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 236,768 237,082 25,502 211,580 0
Securitized debt obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,826 18,920 0 18,920 0
Senior and subordinated notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,431 23,774 0 23,774 0
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements to repurchase . . . . 992 992 0 992 0
Other borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,211 17,180 0 17,180 0
Interest payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 327 327 0 327 0

__________
(1) Other investments includes FHLB, Federal Reserve stock and cost method investments. These investments are included in other assets on our consolidated 

balance sheets.
(2) Other borrowings excludes capital lease obligations.
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NOTE 18—BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Our principal operations are currently organized into three major business segments, which are defined based on the products and 
services provided or the type of customer served: Credit Card, Consumer Banking and Commercial Banking. The operations of 
acquired businesses have been integrated into our existing business segments. Certain activities that are not part of a segment,

 such as management of our corporate investment portfolio and asset/liability management by our centralized Corporate Treasury 
group, are included in the Other category.

• Credit Card: Consists of our domestic consumer and small business card lending, and international card businesses in 
Canada and the United Kingdom.

• Consumer Banking: Consists of our branch-based lending and deposit gathering activities for consumers and small 
businesses, national deposit gathering, national auto lending and our consumer home loan portfolio and associated servicing 
activities.

• Commercial Banking: Consists of our lending, deposit gathering, capital markets and treasury management services to 
commercial real estate and commercial and industrial customers. Our commercial and industrial customers typically include 
companies with annual revenues between $20 million and $2 billion. 

• Other category: Includes the residual impact of the allocation of our centralized Corporate Treasury group activities, such 
as management of our corporate investment portfolio and asset/liability management, to our business segments. Accordingly, 
net gains and losses on our investment securities portfolio and certain trading activities are included in the Other category. 
Other category also includes foreign exchange-rate fluctuations on foreign currency-denominated transactions; unallocated 
corporate expenses that do not directly support the operations of the business segments or for which the business segments 
are not considered financially accountable in evaluating their performance, such as certain restructuring charges; certain 
material items that are non-recurring in nature; offsets related to certain line-item reclassifications; and residual tax expense 
or benefit to arrive at the consolidated effective tax rate that is not assessed to our primary business segments.

Basis of Presentation

We report the results of each of our business segments on a continuing operations basis. See “Note 2—Business Developments 
and Discontinued Operations” for a discussion of our discontinued operations. The results of our individual businesses reflect the 
manner in which management evaluates performance and makes decisions about funding our operations and allocating resources. 

Business Segment Reporting Methodology

The results of our business segments are intended to present each segment as if it were a stand-alone business. Our internal 
management and reporting process used to derive our segment results employs various allocation methodologies, including funds 
transfer pricing, to assign certain balance sheet assets, deposits and other liabilities and their related revenue and expenses directly 
or indirectly attributable to each business segment. Our funds transfer pricing process provides a funds credit for sources of funds, 
such as deposits generated by our Consumer Banking and Commercial Banking businesses, and a funds charge for the use of funds 
by each segment. Due to the integrated nature of our business segments, estimates and judgments have been made in allocating 
certain revenue and expense items. Transactions between segments are based on specific criteria or approximate third-party rates. 
We regularly assess the assumptions, methodologies and reporting classifications used for segment reporting, which may result 
in the implementation of refinements or changes in future periods.

The following is additional information on the principles and methodologies used in preparing our business segment results. 

• Net interest income: Interest income from loans held for investment and interest expense from deposits and other interest-
bearing liabilities are reflected within each applicable business segment. Because funding and asset/liability management 
are managed centrally by our Corporate Treasury group, net interest income for our business segments also includes the 
results of a funds transfer pricing process that is intended to allocate a cost of funds used or credit for funds provided to all 
business segment assets and liabilities, respectively, using a matched funding concept. The taxable-equivalent benefit of 
tax-exempt products is also allocated to each business unit with a corresponding increase in income tax expense.
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• Non-interest income: Non-interest fees and other revenue associated with loans or customers managed by each business 
segment and other direct revenues are accounted for within each business segment.

• Provision for credit losses: The provision for credit losses is directly attributable to the business segment in accordance 
with the loans each business segment manages.

• Non-interest expense: Non-interest expenses directly managed and incurred by a business segment are accounted for within 
each business segment. We allocate certain non-interest expenses indirectly incurred by business segments, such as corporate 
support functions, to each business segment based on various factors, including the actual cost of the services from the 
service providers, the utilization of the services, the number of employees or other relevant factors.

• Goodwill and intangible assets: Goodwill and intangible assets that are not directly attributable to business segments are 
assigned to business segments based on the relative fair value of each segment. Intangible amortization is included in the 
results of the applicable segment.

• Income taxes: Income taxes are assessed for each business segment based on a standard tax rate with the residual tax expense 
or benefit to arrive at the consolidated effective tax rate included in the Other category. 

• Loans held for investment: Loans are reported within each business segment based on product or customer type served by 
that business segment.

• Deposits: Deposits are reported within each business segment based on product or customer type served by that business 
segment.

Segment Results and Reconciliation 

We may periodically change our business segments or reclassify business segment results based on modifications to our management 
reporting methodologies or changes in organizational alignment. The following tables present our business segment results for the 
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, selected balance sheet data as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, and a 
reconciliation of our total business segment results to our reported consolidated income from continuing operations, loans held 
for investment and deposits.
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Table 18.1: Segment Results and Reconciliation

 Year Ended December 31, 2017

(Dollars in millions)
Credit
Card

Consumer
Banking

Commercial
Banking(1) Other(1)

Consolidated
Total

Net interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 13,648 $ 6,380 $ 2,261 $ 171 $ 22,460
Non-interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,325 749 708 (5) 4,777
Total net revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,973 7,129 2,969 166 27,237
Provision for credit losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,066 1,180 301 4 7,551
Non-interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,916 4,233 1,603 442 14,194
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes . . 2,991 1,716 1,065 (280) 5,492
Income tax provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,071 626 389 1,289 3,375
Income (loss) from continuing operations, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,920 $ 1,090 $ 676 $ (1,569) $ 2,117
Loans held for investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 114,762 $ 75,078 $ 64,575 $ 58 $ 254,473
Deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 185,842 33,938 23,922 243,702

Year Ended December 31, 2016

(Dollars in millions)
Credit
Card

Consumer
Banking

Commercial
Banking(1) Other(1)

Consolidated
Total

Net interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 12,635 $ 5,829 $ 2,216 $ 193 $ 20,873
Non-interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,380 733 578 (63) 4,628
Total net revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,015 6,562 2,794 130 25,501
Provision (benefit) for credit losses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,926 1,055 483 (5) 6,459
Non-interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,703 4,139 1,407 309 13,558
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes . . 3,386 1,368 904 (174) 5,484
Income tax provision (benefit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,226 498 329 (339) 1,714
Income from continuing operations, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,160 $ 870 $ 575 $ 165 $ 3,770
Loans held for investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 105,552 $ 73,054 $ 66,916 $ 64 $ 245,586
Deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 181,917 33,866 20,985 236,768

Year Ended December 31, 2015

(Dollars in millions)
Credit
Card

Consumer
Banking

Commercial
Banking(1) Other(1)

Consolidated
Total

Net interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 11,161 $ 5,755 $ 1,865 $ 53 $ 18,834
Non-interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,421 710 487 (39) 4,579
Total net revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,582 6,465 2,352 14 23,413
Provision (benefit) for credit losses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,417 819 302 (2) 4,536
Non-interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,502 4,026 1,156 312 12,996
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes . . 3,663 1,620 894 (296) 5,881
Income tax provision (benefit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,309 586 324 (350) 1,869
Income from continuing operations, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,354 $ 1,034 $ 570 $ 54 $ 4,012
Loans held for investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 96,125 $ 70,372 $ 63,266 $ 88 $ 229,851
Deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 172,702 34,257 10,762 217,721

__________ 
(1) Some of our commercial investments generate tax-exempt income or tax credits. Accordingly, we make certain reclassifications within our Commercial 

Banking business results to present revenues and yields on a taxable-equivalent basis, calculated assuming an effective tax rate approximately equal to our 
federal statutory tax rate (35% for all periods presented), with offsetting reductions to the Other category.
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NOTE 19—COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, GUARANTEES AND OTHERS

Commitments to Lend

Our unfunded lending commitments primarily consist of credit card lines, loan commitments to customers of both our Commercial 
Banking and Consumer Banking businesses, as well as standby and commercial letters of credit. These commitments, other than 
credit card lines, are legally binding conditional agreements that have fixed expirations or termination dates and specified interest 
rates and purposes. The contractual amount of these commitments represents the maximum possible credit risk to us should the 
counterparty draw upon the commitment. We generally manage the potential risk of unfunded lending commitments by limiting 
the total amount of arrangements, monitoring the size and maturity structure of these portfolios and applying the same credit 
standards for all of our credit activities. 

For unused credit card lines, we have not experienced and do not anticipate that all of our customers will access their entire available 
line at any given point in time. Commitments to extend credit other than credit card lines generally require customers to maintain 
certain credit standards. Collateral requirements and loan-to-value (“LTV”) ratios are the same as those for funded transactions 
and are established based on management’s credit assessment of the customer. These commitments may expire without being 
drawn upon; therefore, the total commitment amount does not necessarily represent future funding requirements.

We also issue letters of credit, such as financial standby, performance standby and commercial letters of credit, to meet the financing 
needs of our customers. Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by us to guarantee the performance of a 
customer to a third party in a borrowing arrangement. Commercial letters of credit are short-term commitments issued primarily 
to facilitate trade finance activities for customers and are generally collateralized by the goods being shipped to the client. These 
collateral requirements are similar to those for funded transactions and are established based on management’s credit assessment 
of the customer. Management conducts regular reviews of all outstanding letters of credit and the results of these reviews are 
considered in assessing the adequacy of reserves for unfunded lending commitments.

The following table presents contractual amount and carrying value of our unfunded lending commitments as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016. The carrying value represents our reserve and deferred revenue on legally binding commitments.

Table 19.1: Unfunded Lending Commitments: Contractual Amount and Carrying Value

Contractual Amount Carrying Value

(Dollars in millions)
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016
Standby letter of credit and commercial letter of credit(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,046 $ 1,936 $ 43 $ 42
Credit card lines . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 351,481 312,864 N/A N/A
Other loan commitments(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,840 28,402 84 98
Total unfunded lending commitments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 385,367 $ 343,202 $ 127 $ 140

__________
(1) These financial guarantees have expiration dates ranging from 2018 to 2025 as of December 31, 2017.
(2) Includes $1.0 billion and $699 million of advised lines of credit as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Loss Sharing Agreements and Other Obligations

Within our Commercial Banking business, we originate multifamily commercial real estate loans with the intent to sell them to 
the GSEs. We enter into loss sharing agreements with the GSEs upon the sale of the loans. At inception, we record a liability 
representing the fair value of our obligation which is subsequently amortized as we are released from risk of payment under the 
loss sharing agreement. If payment under the loss sharing agreement becomes probable and estimable, an additional liability may 
be recorded on the consolidated balance sheets and a non-interest expense may be recognized in the consolidated statements of 
income. The liability recognized on our consolidated balance sheets for our loss sharing agreements was $60 million and $48 
million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.



CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

219 Capital One Financial Corporation (COF)

Prior to October 2017, we had an obligation to exercise mandatory clean-up calls related to the discontinued manufactured housing 
operations of GreenPoint Credit, LLC, a subsidiary of GreenPoint, in the event that our third-party servicer could not fulfill its 
obligations. On October 10, 2017, we entered into an agreement with the third-party servicer under which we assumed the mandatory 
obligation to exercise the remaining clean-up calls as they become due on certain securitization transactions. As a result of this 
agreement, we recognized the loan receivables and a corresponding liability on our consolidated balance sheets. During November 
2017, we entered into a forward sale agreement pursuant to which we will sell the underlying loans to a third-party purchaser as 
the clean-up calls are exercised. Based on the current information and estimates, we expect that we will incur a loss when each 
clean-up call is exercised, and have recorded a liability of $78 million associated with these clean-up call obligations as of December 
31, 2017. See “Note 6—Variable Interest Entities and Securitizations” for information related to these transactions.

U.K. Payment Protection Insurance

In the U.K., we previously sold payment protection insurance (“PPI”). In response to an elevated level of customer complaints 
across the industry, heightened media coverage and pressure from consumer advocacy groups, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority 
(“FCA”), formerly the Financial Services Authority, investigated and raised concerns about the way the industry has handled 
complaints related to the sale of these insurance policies. For the past several years, the U.K.’s Financial Ombudsman Service 
(“FOS”) has been adjudicating customer complaints relating to PPI, escalated to it by consumers who disagree with the rejection 
of their complaint by firms, leading to customer remediation payments by us and others within the industry. On March 2, 2017, 
the FCA issued a statement that sets out final rules and guidance on the PPI complaints deadline, which has been set as August 
29, 2019. The statement also provides clarity on how to handle PPI complaints under s.140A of the Consumer Credit Act, including 
guidance on how redress for such complaints should be calculated. The final rules and guidance came into force on August 29, 
2017.

In determining our best estimate of incurred losses for future remediation payments, management considers numerous factors, 
including (i) the number of customer complaints we expect in the future; (ii) our expectation of upholding those complaints; (iii) 
the expected number of complaints customers escalate to the FOS; (iv) our expectation of the FOS upholding such escalated 
complaints; (v) the number of complaints that fall under the s.140A of the Consumer Credit Act; and (vi) the estimated remediation 
payout to customers. We monitor these factors each quarter and adjust our reserves to reflect the latest data.

Management’s best estimate of incurred losses related to U.K. PPI totaled $249 million and $238 million as of December 31, 2017
and December 31, 2016, respectively. In 2017, the reserve has been increased by $130 million in response to the above FCA 
statement and the commencement of the final rules and guidance. Other movements were due to a combination of utilization of 
the reserve through customer refund payments and foreign exchange movements. Our best estimate of reasonably possible future 
losses beyond our reserve as of December 31, 2017 is approximately $150 million.

Litigation

In accordance with the current accounting standards for loss contingencies, we establish reserves for litigation related matters that 
arise from the ordinary course of our business activities when it is probable that a loss associated with a claim or proceeding has 
been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. None of the amounts we currently have recorded individually 
or in the aggregate are considered to be material to our financial condition. Litigation claims and proceedings of all types are 
subject to many uncertain factors that generally cannot be predicted with assurance. Below we provide a description of potentially 
material legal proceedings and claims.

For some of the matters disclosed below, we are able to estimate reasonably possible losses above existing reserves, and for other 
disclosed matters, such an estimate is not possible at this time. For those matters below where an estimate is possible, management 
currently estimates the reasonably possible future losses beyond our reserves as of December 31, 2017 is approximately $550 
million, which includes estimates related to Mortgage Representation and Warranty exposure. Our reserve and reasonably possible 
loss estimates involve considerable judgment and reflect that there is still significant uncertainty regarding numerous factors that 
may impact the ultimate loss levels. Notwithstanding our attempt to estimate a reasonably possible range of loss beyond our current 
accrual levels for some litigation matters based on current information, it is possible that actual future losses will exceed both the 
current accrual level and the range of reasonably possible losses disclosed here. Given the inherent uncertainties involved in these 
matters, especially those involving governmental agencies, and the very large or indeterminate damages sought in some of these 
matters, there is significant uncertainty as to the ultimate liability we may incur from these litigation matters and an adverse outcome 
in one or more of these matters could be material to our results of operations or cash flows for any particular reporting period.
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Interchange

In 2005, a number of entities, each purporting to represent a class of retail merchants, filed antitrust lawsuits against MasterCard 
and Visa and several member banks, including our subsidiaries and us, alleging among other things, that the defendants conspired 
to fix the level of interchange fees. The complaints seek injunctive relief and civil monetary damages, which could be trebled. 
Separately, a number of large merchants have asserted similar claims against Visa and MasterCard only (together with the lawsuits 
described above, “Interchange Lawsuits”). In October 2005, the class and merchant Interchange Lawsuits were consolidated before 
the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York for certain purposes, including discovery. In July 2012, the parties 
executed and filed with the court a Memorandum of Understanding agreeing to resolve the litigation on certain terms set forth in 
a settlement agreement attached to the Memorandum. The class settlement provides for, among other things, (i) payments by 
defendants to the class and individual plaintiffs totaling approximately $6.6 billion; (ii) a distribution to the class merchants of an 
amount equal to 10 basis points of certain interchange transactions for a period of eight months; and (iii) modifications to certain 
Visa and MasterCard rules regarding point of sale practices. In December 2013, the district court granted final approval of the 
proposed class settlement, which was appealed to the Second Circuit Court of Appeals in January 2014. On June 30, 2016, the 
Second Circuit Court of Appeals vacated the district court’s certification of the class, reversed approval of the proposed class 
settlement, and remanded the litigation to the district court for further proceedings, ruling that some of the merchants that were 
part of the proposed class settlement were not adequately represented. Because the Second Circuit ruling remands the litigation 
to the district court for further proceedings, the ultimate outcome in this matter is uncertain. Several merchant plaintiffs also opted 
out of the class settlement before it was overturned, and some of those plaintiffs have sued MasterCard, Visa and various member 
banks, including Capital One. The opt-out cases are consolidated before the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New 
York for certain purposes, including discovery. Visa and MasterCard have settled a number of individual opt-out cases, requiring 
non-material payments from all banks, including Capital One. Separate settlement and judgment sharing agreements between 
Capital One, MasterCard and Visa allocate the liabilities of any judgment or settlement arising from the Interchange Lawsuits and 
associated opt-out cases. Visa created a litigation escrow account following its IPO of stock in 2008, which funds any settlements 
for its member banks, and any settlements related to MasterCard allocated losses are reflected in Capital One’s reserves.

Mortgage Representation and Warranty

We face residual exposure related to subsidiaries that originated residential mortgage loans and sold these loans to various 
purchasers, including purchasers who created securitization trusts. In connection with their sales of mortgage loans, these 
subsidiaries entered into agreements containing varying representations and warranties about, among other things, the ownership 
of the loan, the validity of the lien securing the loan, the loan’s compliance with any applicable criteria established by the purchaser, 
including underwriting guidelines and the existence of mortgage insurance, and the loan’s compliance with applicable federal, 
state and local laws. Each of these subsidiaries may be required to repurchase mortgage loans, or indemnify certain purchasers 
and others against losses they incur, in the event of certain breaches of these representations and warranties. 

The substantial majority of our representation and warranty exposure has been resolved through litigation, and our remaining 
representation and warranty exposure is almost entirely litigation-related. Accordingly, we establish litigation reserves for 
representation and warranty losses that we consider to be both probable and reasonably estimable. The reserve process relies 
heavily on estimates, which are inherently uncertain, and requires the application of judgment. Our reserves and estimates of 
reasonably possible losses could be impacted by claims which may be brought by securitization trustees and sponsors, bond-
insurers, investors, and GSEs, as well as claims brought by governmental agencies under the Financial Institutions Reform, 
Recovery and Enforcement Act (“FIRREA”), the False Claims Act or other federal or state statutes. 

In February 2009, GreenPoint was named as a defendant in a lawsuit commenced in the New York County Supreme Court, by 
U.S. Bank, N. A., Syncora Guarantee Inc. and CIFG Assurance North America, Inc. (“U.S. Bank Litigation”). Plaintiffs alleged, 
among other things, that GreenPoint breached certain representations and warranties in two contracts pursuant to which GreenPoint 
sold approximately 30,000 mortgage loans having an aggregate original principal balance of approximately $1.8 billion to a 
purchaser that ultimately transferred most of these mortgage loans to a securitization trust. Some of the securities issued by the 
trust were insured by Syncora and CIFG. Plaintiffs sought unspecified damages and an order compelling GreenPoint to repurchase 
the entire portfolio of 30,000 mortgage loans based on alleged breaches of representations and warranties relating to a limited 
sampling of loans in the portfolio, or, alternatively, the repurchase of specific mortgage loans to which the alleged breaches of 
representations and warranties relate. GreenPoint resolved the U.S. Bank litigation with U.S. Bank, Syncora and CIFG (and its 
successor) for a total of $540 million in December 2017. Included in discontinued operations is a pre-tax charge of $169 million 
related to this settlement, which represents amounts above previously recognized reserves.
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In May, June and July 2012, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”) (acting as conservator for Freddie Mac) filed three
summonses with notice in the New York state court against GreenPoint, on behalf of the trustees for three RMBS trusts backed 
by loans originated by GreenPoint with an aggregate original principal balance of $3.4 billion. In January 2013, the plaintiffs filed 
an amended consolidated complaint in the name of the three trusts, acting by the respective trustees, alleging breaches of contractual 
representations and warranties regarding compliance with GreenPoint underwriting guidelines relating to certain loans (“FHFA 
Litigation”). Plaintiffs seek specific performance of the repurchase obligations with respect to the loans for which they have 
provided notice of alleged breaches as well as all other allegedly breaching loans, rescissory damages, indemnification, costs and 
interest. On March 29, 2017, the trial court granted GreenPoint’s motion for summary judgment and dismissed plaintiff’s claims 
as untimely. In May 2017, the plaintiff appealed the dismissal to the Second Circuit.

Anti-Money Laundering

Capital One is being investigated by the New York District Attorney’s Office (“NYDA”), the Department of Justice and the Financial 
Crimes Enforcement Network (“FinCEN”) of the U.S. Department of Treasury with respect to certain former check casher clients 
of the Commercial Banking business and Capital One’s anti-money laundering (“AML”) program. Capital One is cooperating 
with all agencies involved in the investigation.

In addition, Capital One is subject to an open consent order with the OCC dated July 10, 2015 concerning regulatory deficiencies 
in our AML program.

Other Pending and Threatened Litigation

In addition, we are commonly subject to various pending and threatened legal actions relating to the conduct of our normal business 
activities. In the opinion of management, the ultimate aggregate liability, if any, arising out of all such other pending or threatened 
legal actions will not be material to our consolidated financial position or our results of operations.



CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

222 Capital One Financial Corporation (COF)

NOTE 20—CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION (PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

Financial Information

The following parent company only financial statements are prepared in accordance with Regulation S-X of the U.S. Securities 
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Table 20.1: Parent Company Statements of Income

 Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 2015
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 178 $ 120 $ 120
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 381 258 185
Dividends from subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 300 3,936 450
Non-interest income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 (13) 10
Non-interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34 48 178
Income before income taxes and equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82 3,737 217
Income tax provision (benefit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (103) (79) (67)
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,797 (65) 3,766
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,982 3,751 4,050
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23 (333) (186)
Comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,005 $ 3,418 $ 3,864

Table 20.2: Parent Company Balance Sheets

 December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,196 $ 7,296
Investments in subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54,712 48,297
Loans to subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 548 592
Securities available for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 907 901
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 729 672
Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65,092 $ 57,758

Liabilities:
Senior and subordinated notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 14,392 $ 8,304
Borrowings from subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,633 1,610
Accrued expenses and other liabilities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 337 330
Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,362 10,244
Total stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48,730 47,514
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65,092 $ 57,758
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Table 20.3: Parent Company Statements of Cash Flows

 Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 2015
Operating activities:
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,982 $ 3,751 $ 4,050
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,797) 65 (3,766)
Other operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 327 (10) (300)

Net cash from operating activities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 512 3,806 (16)
Investing activities:

Net payments (to) from subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,956) (163) (172)
Proceeds from paydowns and maturities of securities available for sale . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 130 71 65
Changes in loans to subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44 (71) 973

Net cash from investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,782) (163) 866
Financing activities:
Borrowings:

Changes in borrowings from subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23 19 18
Issuance of senior and subordinated notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,948 1,487 2,487
Proceeds from paydowns and maturities of senior and subordinated notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (804) (1,750) (2,625)

Common stock:
Net proceeds from issuances . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 164 131 111
Dividends paid. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (780) (812) (816)

Preferred stock:
Net proceeds from issuances . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 1,066 1,472
Dividends paid. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (265) (214) (158)

Purchases of treasury stock. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (240) (3,661) (2,441)
Proceeds from share-based payment activities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124 142 85
Net cash from financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,170 (3,592) (1,867)
Changes in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 900 51 (1,017)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,296 7,245 8,262
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,196 $ 7,296 $ 7,245
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NOTE 21—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of business, we may have loans issued to our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders. Pursuant 
to our policy, such loans are issued on the same terms as those prevailing at the time for comparable loans to unrelated persons 
and do not involve more than the normal risk of collectability.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Overview

We are required under applicable laws and regulations to maintain controls and procedures, which include disclosure controls and 
procedures as well as internal control over financial reporting, as further described below.

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures refer to controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information 
required to be disclosed in our financial reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified 
by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and 
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely 
decisions regarding our required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, we recognize that 
any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the 
desired control objectives, and we must apply judgment in evaluating and implementing possible controls and procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), our management, including the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures 
(as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2017, the end of the period 
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2017, at a reasonable level of assurance, 
in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting information required to be disclosed within the time periods specified by the 
SEC rules and forms.

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We regularly review our disclosure controls and procedures and make changes intended to ensure the quality of our financial 
reporting. There have been no changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2017 
which have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

(c) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting is included in “Part II—Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data” and is incorporated herein by reference. The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting also is included in “Part II—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” 
and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. Other Information 

None.
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PART III 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

The information required by Item 10 will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2018 Annual Stockholder Meeting (“Proxy 
Statement”) under the headings “Corporate Governance at Capital One” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting 
Compliance,” and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days of the end of our 2017 fiscal year.

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

The information required by Item 11 will be included in the Proxy Statement under the headings “Director Compensation,” 
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Named Executive Officer Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and 
Insider Participation” and “Compensation Committee Report,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

The information required by Item 12 will be included in the Proxy Statement under the headings “Security Ownership” and “Equity 
Compensation Plans,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 

The information required by Item 13 will be included in the Proxy Statement under the headings “Related Person Transactions” 
and “Director Independence,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The information required by Item 14 will be included in the Proxy Statement under the heading “Ratification of Selection of 
Independent Auditors,” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements Schedules 

(a)  Financial Statement Schedules 

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report in Part II, Item 8 and are incorporated herein by reference. 

(1) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Consolidated Financial Statements

       Consolidated Financial Statements: 

  Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015  

  Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 

  Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 

  Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 

  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 

 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

(2) Schedules    

 None. 

(b)  Exhibits 

An index to exhibits has been filed as part of this Report and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 

Not applicable.
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CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

DATED DECEMBER 31, 2017
Commission File No. 1-13300

The following exhibits are incorporated by reference or filed herewith. References to (i) the “2002 Form 10-K” are to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed on March 17, 2003; (ii) the “2003 Form 10-K” are to 
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed on March 5, 2004; (iii) the “2004 Form 
10-K” are to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, filed on March 9, 2005; (iv) 
the “2010 Form 10-K” are to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, filed on March 
1, 2011, as amended on March 7, 2011; (v) the “2011 Form 10-K” are to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2011, filed on February 28, 2012; (vi) the “2012 Form 10-K” are to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, filed on February 28, 2013; (vii) the “2013 Form 10-K” are to the Company’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, filed on February 27, 2014; (viii) the “2014 Form 10-K” are to the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, filed on February 24, 2015; (ix) the “2015 Form 
10-K” are to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, filed on February 25, 2016; and 
(ix) the “2016 Form 10-K” are to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, filed on 
February 23, 2017.

Exhibit No. Description
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Capital One Financial Corporation (as restated April 30, 2015) (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 4, 2015).
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Capital One Financial Corporation, dated October 5, 2015 (incorporated by reference to 

Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 5, 2015).
3.3.1 Certificate of Designations of Fixed Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series B, dated August 16, 2012 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 20, 2012).
3.3.2 Certificate of Designations of Fixed Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series C, dated June 11, 2014 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 12, 2014).
3.3.3 Certificate of Designations of Fixed Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series D, dated October 29, 2014 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed October 31, 2014).
3.3.4 Certificate of Designations of Fixed-to-Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series E, dated May 12, 

2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 14, 2015).
3.3.5 Certificate of Designations of Fixed Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series F, dated August 20, 2015 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 24, 2015).
3.3.6 Certificate of Designations of Fixed Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series G, dated July 28, 2016 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 29, 2016).
3.3.7 Certificate of Designations of Fixed Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series H, dated November 28, 2016 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 29, 2016).
4.1.1 Specimen certificate representing the common stock of Capital One Financial Corporation (incorporated by reference to 

Exhibit 4.1 of the 2003 Form 10-K).
4.1.2 Warrant Agreement, dated December 3, 2009, between Capital One Financial Corporation and Computershare Trust Company, 

N.A. (incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 4.1 of the Form 8-A, filed on December 4, 2009).
4.1.3 Deposit Agreement, dated August 20, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K, 

filed on August 20, 2012).
4.2 Pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K, copies of instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt 

are not filed. The Company agrees to furnish a copy thereof to the SEC upon request.
10.1.1 Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 

8-K, filed on May 3, 2006).
10.1.2 Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement on Definitive 

Schedule 14A, filed on March 13, 2009).
10.1.3 Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement on Definitive 

Schedule 14A, filed on March 18, 2014).
10.1.4* Fourth Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.
10.2.1 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement granted to certain of our executives under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20.3 of the 2004 Form 10-K).
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Exhibit No. Description
10.2.2 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreement granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, 

under the Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 26, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.18 of the 2010 Form 10-K).

10.2.3 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive 
Officer, under the Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 31, 2012 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2.10 of the 2011 Form 10-K).

10.2.4 Form of Performance Unit Award Agreements granted to executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, under the 
Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 31, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.11 
of the 2011 Form 10-K).

10.2.5 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive 
Officer, under the Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 31, 2013 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2.14 of the 2012 Form 10-K).

10.2.6 Form of Performance Unit Award Agreements granted to executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, under the 
Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 31, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.15 
of the 2012 Form 10-K).

10.2.7 Restricted Stock Award Agreement granted to Stephen S. Crawford under the Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock 
Incentive Plan on February 2, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.18 of the 2012 Form 10-K).

10.2.8 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive 
Officer, under the Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 30, 2014 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2.15 of the 2013 Form 10-K).

10.2.9 Form of Performance Unit Award Agreements granted to executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, under the 
Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 30, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.16 
of the 2013 Form 10-K).

10.2.10 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, 
under the Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 30, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.2.17 of the 2013 Form 10-K).

10.2.11 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive 
Officer, under the Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 29, 2015 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2.14 of the 2014 Form 10-K).

10.2.12 Form of Performance Unit Award Agreements granted to executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, under the 
Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 29, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.15 
of the 2014 Form 10-K).

10.2.13 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, 
under the Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on January 29, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.2.16 of the 2014 Form 10-K).

10.2.14 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive 
Officer, under the Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on February 4, 2016 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2.17 of the 2015 Form 10-K).

10.2.15 Form of Performance Unit Award Agreements granted to executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, under the 
Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on February 4, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.18 
of the 2015 Form 10-K).

10.2.16 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, 
under the Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on February 4, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.2.19 of the 2015 Form 10-K).

10.2.17 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement granted to Richard Scott Blackley under the Third Amended and Restated 2004 
Stock Incentive Plan, dated May 9, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for the period ended June 30, 2016).

10.2.18 Amendment 1 to Restricted Stock Award Agreement granted to Stephen S. Crawford under the Second Amended and Restated 
2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period 
ended June 30, 2016).

10.2.19 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive 
Officer, under the Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on February 2, 2017 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2.19 of the 2016 Form 10-K).

10.2.20 Form of Performance Unit Award Agreements granted to executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, under the 
Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on February 2, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.20 
of the 2016 Form 10-K).

10.2.21 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, 
under the Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on February 2, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.2.21 of the 2016 Form 10-K).
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Exhibit No. Description
10.2.22* Form of Performance Unit Award Agreements granted to executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, under the 

Fourth Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on February 1, 2018.
10.2.23* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreements granted to our executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, 

under the Fourth Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan on February 1, 2018.
10.3.1 Capital One Financial Corporation 1999 Non-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the 2002 Form 10-K).
10.3.2 Form of 1999 Non-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement between Capital One 

Financial Corporation and certain of its Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2004).

10.3.3 Form of 1999 Non-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan Deferred Share Units Award Agreement between Capital One 
Financial Corporation and certain of its Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2004).

10.3.4 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement granted to our directors under the Second Amended and Restated 2004 
Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.4 of the 2011 Form 10-K).

10.3.5 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement granted to our directors under the Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock 
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.5 of the 2011 Form 10-K).

10.3.6 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement granted to our directors under the Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock 
Incentive Plan, for awards granted on or after May 5, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2017).

10.4.1 Amended and Restated Capital One Financial Corporation Executive Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.4 of the 2011 Form 10-K).

10.4.2 Amended and Restated Capital One Financial Corporation Executive Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2015).

10.5 Capital One Financial Corporation Non-Employee Directors Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.5 of the 2011 Form 10-K).

10.6.1 Amended and Restated Capital One Financial Corporation Voluntary Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the 2011 Form 10-K).

10.6.2 First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Capital One Financial Corporation Voluntary Non-Qualified Deferred 
Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6.2 of the 2012 Form 10-K).

10.7.1 Form of Change of Control Employment Agreement between Capital One Financial Corporation and each of its named 
executive officers, other than the Chief Executive Officer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8.2 of the 2011 Form 10-
K).

10.7.2 Form of 2011 Change of Control Employment Agreement between Capital One Financial Corporation and certain executive 
officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8.3 of the 2012 Form 10-K).

10.7.3 Change of Control Employment Agreement between Capital One Financial Corporation and Richard D. Fairbank 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7.3 of the 2013 Form 10-K).

10.8.1 Form of Non-Competition Agreement between Capital One Financial Corporation and certain named executive officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the 2012 Form 10-K).

10.8.2 Non-Competition Agreement between Capital One Financial Corporation and R. Scott Blackley (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.1.1 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2017).

10.8.3 Non-Competition Agreement between Capital One Financial Corporation and Noelle K. Eder (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1.2 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2017).

10.8.4 Non-Competition Agreement between Capital One Financial Corporation and Michael J. Wassmer (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.1.3 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2017).

10.9 Offer Letter to Stephen S. Crawford dated January 31, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10.2 of the 2012 Form 
10-K).

12.1* Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.
21* Subsidiaries of the Company.
23* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

31.1* Certification of Richard D. Fairbank.
31.2* Certification of R. Scott Blackley.
32.1* Certification** of Richard D. Fairbank.
32.2* Certification** of R. Scott Blackley.

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
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Exhibit No. Description
101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

*  Indicates a document being filed with this Form 10-K. 
** Information in this Form 10-K furnished herewith shall not be deemed to be “filed” for the purposes of Section 18 of the 1934 Act or otherwise subject to 

the liabilities of that section.
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Date: February 21, 2018  By:  /s/ RICHARD D. FAIRBANK
  Richard D. Fairbank
  Chair, Chief Executive Officer and President

Signature Title Date

/s/ RICHARD D. FAIRBANK Chair, Chief Executive Officer and President February 21, 2018

Richard D. Fairbank (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ R. SCOTT BLACKLEY Chief Financial Officer February 21, 2018

R. Scott Blackley (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ TIMOTHY P. GOLDEN Controller February 21, 2018

Timothy P. Golden (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ ANN FRITZ HACKETT Director February 21, 2018

Ann Fritz Hackett

/s/ LEWIS HAY, III Director February 21, 2018

Lewis Hay, III

/s/ BENJAMIN P. JENKINS, III Director February 21, 2018

Benjamin P. Jenkins, III

/s/ PETER THOMAS KILLALEA Director February 21, 2018

Peter Thomas Killalea

/s/ PIERRE E. LEROY Director February 21, 2018

Pierre E. Leroy

/s/ PETER E. RASKIND Director February 21, 2018

Peter E. Raskind

/s/ MAYO A. SHATTUCK III Director February 21, 2018

Mayo A. Shattuck III

/s/ BRADFORD H. WARNER Director February 21, 2018

Bradford H. Warner

/s/CATHERINE G. WEST Director February 21, 2018

Catherine G. West



Exhibit 12.1

COMPUTATION OF RATIOS OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND 
EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

 Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 2015 2014  2013
Ratios (including interest expense on deposits):     
Earnings:     
Income from continuing operations before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,492 $ 5,484 $ 5,881 $ 6,569 $ 6,578
Adjustments:

Fixed charges. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,773 2,025 1,632 1,586 1,796
Equity in undistributed gain of unconsolidated subsidiaries. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9) (7) (19) (1) (16)

Earnings available for fixed charges, as adjusted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,256 $ 7,502 $ 7,494 $ 8,154 $ 8,358
Fixed charges:      

Interest expense on deposits and borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,762 $ 2,018 $ 1,625 $ 1,579 $ 1,792
Interest factor in rent expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 7 7 7 4

Total fixed charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,773 2,025 1,632 1,586 1,796
Preferred stock dividend requirements(1). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 688 311 232 100 77
Total combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,461 $ 2,336 $ 1,864 $ 1,686 $ 1,873
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.98 3.70 4.59 5.14 4.65
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends(1). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.39 3.21 4.02 4.84 4.46

Ratios (excluding interest expense on deposits):      
Earnings:      
Income from continuing operations before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,492 $ 5,484 $ 5,881 $ 6,569 $ 6,578
Adjustments:

Fixed charges. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,171 812 541 498 555
Equity in undistributed gains of unconsolidated subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9) (7) (19) (1) (16)

Earnings available for fixed charges, as adjusted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,654 $ 6,289 $ 6,403 $ 7,066 $ 7,117
Fixed charges:      

Interest expense on borrowings(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,160 $ 805 $ 534 $ 491 $ 551
Interest factor in rent expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 7 7 7 4

Total fixed charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,171 812 541 498 555
Preferred stock dividend requirements(1). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 688 311 232 100 77
Total combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,859 $ 1,123 $ 773 $ 598 $ 632
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, excluding interest on deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.68 7.75 11.84 14.19 12.82
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges excluding interest on deposits and preferred stock 
dividends(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.58 5.60 8.28 11.82 11.26

__________
(1) Preferred stock dividends requirements represent pre-tax earnings that would be required to cover any preferred stock dividends, computed using our effective 

tax rate, whenever there is an income tax provision, for the relevant periods. The impacts of the Tax Act to our effective tax rate for 2017 was 32.2% which 
is included in the calculations. See "Note 16—Income Taxes" for more details on the impacts of the Tax Act. 

(2) Interest expense on borrowings represents total interest expense reported on our consolidated statements of income, excluding interest on deposits of $1.6 
billion for the year ended December 31, 2017,  $1.2 billion for the years ended December 31, 2016, $1.1 billion for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014 and $1.2 billion for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Copies of Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission are available without charge at www.capitalone.com. The 
most recent certifications by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002 are filed as exhibits to the Form 10-K. We have also filed with the New York Stock Exchange the most recent Annual CEO 
Certification as required by Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.

ABOUT CAPITAL ONE

Capital One Financial Corporation (www.capitalone.com) is a financial holding company whose subsidiaries, which include Capital One, N.A., and Capital One Bank (USA), 
N.A., had $243.7 billion in deposits and $365.7 billion in total assets as of December 31, 2017. Headquartered in McLean, Virginia, Capital One offers a broad spectrum of 
financial products and services to consumers, small businesses and commercial clients through a variety of channels. Capital One, N.A. has branches located primarily in 
New York, Louisiana, Texas, Maryland, Virginia, New Jersey and the District of Columbia. A Fortune 500 company, Capital One trades on the New York Stock Exchange 
under the symbol “COF” and is included in the S&P 100 index.

Capital One cautions readers that any forward-looking statement is not a guarantee of future performance and that actual results could differ materially from those 
described in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors including, among other things: general economic and business conditions in the U.S., the 
U.K., Canada or Capital One’s local markets, including conditions affecting employment levels, interest rates, collateral values, consumer income, credit worthiness and 
confidence, spending and savings that may affect consumer bankruptcies, defaults, charge-offs and deposit activity; an increase or decrease in credit losses, including 
increases due to a worsening of general economic conditions in the credit environment, and the impact of inaccurate estimates or inadequate reserves; compliance with 
financial, legal, regulatory, tax or accounting changes or actions, including the impacts of the Tax Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, and other regulations governing bank capital 
and liquidity standards; developments, changes or actions relating to any litigation, governmental investigation or regulatory enforcement action or matter involving Capital 
One; the inability to sustain revenue and earnings growth; increases or decreases in interest rates; Capital One’s ability to access the capital markets at attractive rates 
and terms to capitalize and fund its operations and future growth; increases or decreases in Capital One’s aggregate loan balances or the number of customers and the 
growth rate and composition thereof, including increases or decreases resulting from factors such as shifting product mix, amount of actual marketing expenses Capital 
One incurs, and attrition of loan balances; the amount and rate of deposit growth; Capital One’s ability to execute on its strategic and operational plans; Capital One’s 
response to competitive pressures; changes in retail distribution strategies and channels, including the emergence of new technologies and product delivery systems; the 
success of Capital One’s marketing efforts in attracting and retaining customers; changes in the reputation of, or expectations regarding, the financial services industry 
or Capital One with respect to practices, products or financial condition; any significant disruption in Capital One’s operations or in the technology platforms on which 
Capital One relies, including cybersecurity, business continuity and related operational risks, as well as other security failures or breaches of Capital One’s systems or those 
of Capital One’s customers, partners, service providers or other third parties; Capital One’s ability to maintain a compliance and technology infrastructure suitable for the 
nature of Capital One’s business; Capital One’s ability to develop and adapt to rapid changes in digital technology to address the needs of Capital One’s customers and 
comply with applicable regulatory standards, including Capital One’s increasing reliance on third party infrastructure and compliance with data protection and privacy 
standards; the effectiveness of Capital One’s risk management strategies; Capital One’s ability to control costs, including the amount of, and rate of growth in, its expenses 
as its business develops or changes or as it expands into new market areas; the extensive use, reliability and accuracy of the models and data Capital One relies on in its 
business; Capital One’s ability to recruit and retain talented and experienced personnel; the impact from, and Capital One’s ability to respond to, natural disasters and other 
catastrophic events, including hurricanes Harvey and Irma; changes in the labor and employment markets; fraud or misconduct by Capital One’s customers, employees, 
business partners or third parties; merchants’ increasing focus on the fees charged by credit card networks; and other risk factors identified from time to time in reports 
that Capital One files with the SEC, including, but not limited to, the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

All Capital One service marks are owned by Capital One. All rights reserved. The third party marks used herein are the property of their respective owners. All rights reserved. 
© Copyright 2018 Capital One Services, Inc.
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